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TO BE A LEADING FINANCIAL
INSTITUTION IN SOUTH EAST ASIA.

VISION

MISSION
TO BECOME A LEADING COMMERCIAL
BANK WITH QUALITY ASSETS, EXCELLENT
RISK MANAGEMENT PRACTICES, AND TO
BE LISTED ON THE PHNOM PENH STOCK
EXCHANGE.
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FY2020 was a tumultuous year triggered by the lethal Novel Coronavirus
(“Covid-19”). Virtually no any business and country in the world are immune
to this deadly virus that has claimed a couple of million lives and infected
more than hundred million people globally. 

FY2020 was a tumultuous year triggered by the lethal Novel Coronavirus
(“Covid-19”). Virtually no any business and country in the world are immune
to this deadly virus that has claimed a couple of million lives and infected
more than hundred million people globally. 

For DGB, Cambodia, however, FY2020 was the
year that made our lingering dreams come true.
Upon investing e�orts and funds to build up
the commercial bank project for one year and
a half, DGB was finally granted an approval,
converting from DGB Specialized Bank Plc
into a fully-fledged commercial bank, named
DGB Bank Plc on 30 September 2020 by
National Bank of Cambodia (“NBC”). Meanwhile,
the new core banking, developed to support
the commercial bank business, coined “Rumduol”
was greenlighted to use by NBC in March 2021.
These two milestones could have not been
achieved unless there had been relentless
endurance and e�orts from our internal and
connected stakeholders.

In spite of pervasiveness of the destructive
Covid-19 in whole 2020, the bank’s asset grew
by 47%, to US$298.11 million from US$202.23
million in 2019. The total outstanding loan by
the end of year increased by 26%, to US$ 241.55
million from US$191.51 million in 2019. In addition
to eight branches in Phnom Penh, we started
to open the first provincial branch, located in
Ta Khmau Town, Kandal Province. The bank’s
sta� has been also increased to 649 from 509
in 2019 and many more recruitments FY 2021
is planned to secure smoothness of commercial
banking operations.
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In line with Cambodian government’s
announcement requesting the financial
institutions’ cooperation to moderate loan
clients impacted by the pandemic, the bank
has undertaken many loan restructures for
clients whose cash flows are being temporarily
hard hit by the pandemic. Also we have
promoted SME businesses through SME
Co-financing initiated by government-led SME
Bank. For risk management implementation
during the outbreak of Covid-19, all new loan
booking and loan restructuring conducts have
been firmly enhanced and strictly implemented
respectively to attain the quality credit of the
bank. Through these prudent manners, the
non-performance loan rate of 2020 was
contained to 0.31%.  Once again, our strong
operating performance and commercial bank
license were made possible only with the
well-executed and timely processing of loans,
the diligent and close follow-up problem loans,
and most importantly the dedication of our
hardworking sta�. These actions have led to
the development of great team work &
cooperation by all our sta� and shareholders
alike.

Having become the full-service bank,
we have set demanding targets to grow
portfolio of assets up to US$371 million,
loan up to US$302 million and deposit
up to US$20 million while managing the
non-performance loan percentage not
exceeding 1% by the end of 2021. In
respect with a five-year digital banking
roadmap, we are going to introduce
ATM to the branches, rolling out Mobile

Finally, we would like to thank our Board
of Directors for their tireless e�orts in
guiding the bank's strategies, and we
are grateful to our regulatory authorities,
esteemed shareholders, and valued
customers for their continued support.

Sincerely yours,

Oul Dethsokhom, CEO

Banking apps, developing credit card
products, many other new products as
well as digitalizing operational manual
flows. We will strive to continue serving
our customers with not only the best
products in the market but with competitive
pricing and the speediest service. Only
then we can be assured of the highest
level of customer satisfaction.
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General Loan
These loans are generally provided for working capital purposes and current business expansion.
The repayment of principal and interest is based on the borrowers’ regular income stream and
collateral secured by property.

OUR PRODUCTS
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Housing Loan

These loans are provided to borrowers who want to buy a car for personal use.

Car Loan

These loans are provided to borrowers who want to buy or construct houses for their own needs.
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ACTIVITIES OF CSR
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Issuance of the approval
in principle from NBC

2009

- New Branch Opening (PDT Branch)
- Registration of trade mark at MOC

2011

Total Assets : USD11,933,949
Interest Income : USD1,505,050

NIA : USD229,865

New Branches Opening (RSK and BKK Branch)
2015

Total Assets : USD63,851,888
Interest Income : USD8,497,007

NAT : USD1,927,835

Issuance of the main license from NBC
(Microfinance Institution)

2010

Total Assets : USD5,468,927
Interest Income : USD462,625

NAT : USD13,260

Issuance of the main license from NBC
as Cam Capital Specialized Bank Plc.

2013

Total Assets : USD32,146,123
Interest Income : USD4,409,025

NAT : USD814,632

2012
Total Assets : USD20,930,852

Interest Income : USD2,872,392
NAT : USD516,641

2016
Total Assets : USD86,019,889

Interest Income : USD11,473,996
NAT : USD3,395,256

0808

KEY MILESTONES
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New Branch (CHC Branch)
2014

Total Assets : USD44,073,316
Interest Income : USD6,018,180

NIAT : USD1,785,172

- New Branch Opening (TKM Branch)
  - Issuance of the main license from

NBC as DGB Bank Plc.

2020

Total Assets : USD298,113,657
Interest Income : USD29,663,555

NIAT : (USD676,834)

New Branch Opening (SKK Branch)
2019

Total Assets : USD204,761,118
Interest Income : USD23,201,471

NIAT : USD10,149,393

- New shareholder: Daegu Bank, South Korea 
- New Branches Opening (OLP and SMC Branch)

2018

Total Assets : USD140,516,705
Interest Income : USD17,433,225
NIAT : USD6,493,617

2017
Total Assets : USD106,565,345
Interest Income : USD14,087,148
NIAT : USD4,281,433

0909
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ORGANIZATION CHART
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SHAREHOLDERS

DGB Bank / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

The share capital structure and details of authorized and registered shareholding are as follows:

% of
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100%

100%
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75,000,000

100%

100%

75,000,000
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75,000,000

Daegu Bank

2020
Number of

shares

Amount
US$

Amount
US$
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2019
Number of

shares
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Education:
•         Master of Economics, Yonsei University, South
          Korea
•         Bachelor of Business Administration, Hong Kong
          Polytechnic University, Hong Kong

Work Experience:
•         Chief Information O�icer and Chief Finance
          O�icer, DGB Life Insurance (Current)
•         Head of Global Trading Center, NH Investment
          and Securities.

CHEON BYUNG KYU

Education:
•         Bachelor of Business Administration,
          Keimyung University, South Korea
 
Work Experience:
 •       General Manager, DGB Daegu Bank (Current)

SHIN IL KYU

1212

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Education:
•         Master of Business Administration, Kyungpook
           National University, South Korea 
•         Bachelor of Business Administration, Kyungil
           University, South Korea

Work Experience:
•         Associate Professor, Daegu Catholic University
          (Current)
•         Advisor, DGB Capital

Education:
•         Master of Business Administration, Korea
          University, South Korea
•         Bachelor of Business Administration, Korea
          University, South Korea

Work Experience:
•         Chief Finance O�icer, Chip Mong Commercial Bank
•         Standing Auditor, Phnom Penh Commercial Bank

PARK HYUNG JOON

CHO SUNG MOON

Master of Business Administration, Korea
Education:
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Education:
•        Master Degree Program from Touslouse 1 University,
         French (Hanoi University)
•        Bachelor of Law, Royal University of Law and
         Economics.

Work Experience:
•        Law Lecturer, Human Resource University (Current)
•        Legal O�icer, Extraordinary Chambers in Court of
        Cambodia. 

KUN SOTHY

Education:
•         Ph.D of Business Administration, Kyungpook
           National University, South Korea
•         Master of Business Administration, Kyungpook
           National University, South Korea

Work Experience:
•         Independent Director, Hi Investment &
           Securities (Current)
•         Independent Director, DGB Life Insurance

KIM JONG DOO
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OUL DETHSOKHOM
Chief Executive O�icer

Education
•      Bachelor of Korean Language,

        Korea University, South Korea

•      Bachelor of Theology, Hansei

        University, South Korea

Education
•       Bachelor of Economics, Chung-

         Ang University, South Korea

Work Experience
•       General Manager, Daegu Bank,

         South Korea

Work Experience
•       Head of Credit, Credit for Poor

         Resident Development Organization

•       Chief of Credit O�icer, Acleda

         Bank Plc.

Work Experience
•      Member of Committee of KB

        Bank and PRASAC Integration

•      General Manager of KB “Tuek

        Thla Branch”

LEE BYUNG HWI
Deputy Chief Executive
O�icer

Education
•       Master of Business Administration,

        Financial Management, Royal

        University of Law and Economics

PET RAVY
Chief Credit O�icer

1616
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MANAGEMENT  TEAM
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Work Experience
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Education
 •      Master of Business Administration,
        General Management, National
        University of Management

Work Experience
 •      CEO Executive Secretary & Loan
        Admin O�icer, Phnom Penh
        Commercial Bank

MAO NIMOL
Chief Human Resources
O�icer

Education
 •      Master of Business Administration,
        General Management, National
        University of Management

Work Experience
 •       Medium Credit O�icer, Acleda
         Bank Plc.

NGET BUNTHOEUN
Chief Operating O�icer

Education
•     Master of Business Administration,
      Enterprise Management, Huazhong
      University of Science and Technology,
      China
•     Bachelor of Economic, Finance
      and Banking, Royal University of
      Law and Economics.

Work Experience 
•     Head of Finance Department, LOLC
      (Cambodia)
•     Finance Manager, ANZ Royal Bank
•     Assistant Manager of Budgeting
      and Control Unit, Acleda Bank Plc.

YUN SOPHAL
Chief Financial O�icer
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1919

DGB Bank / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Education
 •   Master of Business Administration,

 •   Business Management, Norton

      University

Work Experience
 •    Assistant Vice President and Manager

       of Report and Compliance Audit

       Unit, Acleda Bank Plc.

Work Experience
  •   Team Leader, Corporate Governance

      and Compliance Risk, CIMB

      Bank Plc.

MOUK MARDETH
Compliance Manager

Education
•    Pursuing ACCA through CamEd

      Business School

•     Pursuing Master of Private Law,

      Royal University of Law and

      Economics

SAN PISEY
Risk Management Manager

1919



DGB Bank / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

OPERATING RESULT (USD)

2020 2019

Net income before income tax

Net income for the year

  (702,555)    12,442,263

  (676,834)    10,149,393

298,113,657   204,761,118

241,553,940   191,283,277

194,137,573   100,108,200

75,000,000   75,000,000

103,976,084   104,652,918

 3.6%     5.5%

 8.5%     9.8%

 6.4%     7.4%

 0.3%     0.2%

Total assets

Loan to customers

Total liabilities

Paid-up capital

Shareholder’s equity

Return on asset (ROA)

Return on equity (ROE)

Return on investment (ROI)

Non-performing loan (NPL)

2020

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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The Board of Directors (“the Board”) submits this
report, together with the financial statements of DGB
Bank Plc. (“the Bank”) as at 31 December 2020 and
for the year then ended.

DGB Bank Plc. (“the Bank”) was initially incorporated
in Cambodia as Cam Capital Co, Ltd and registered
with the Ministry of Commerce as a public limited
company under the registration number Co. 6364/
09E, dated 22 December 2009. On 19 March 2012,
the Bank received a new registration number Co.
6364E/2009 from the Ministry of Commerce.

On 17 February 2010, the Bank received an indefinite
license from the National Bank of Cambodia (“NBC”)
to conduct business as a Micro-Finance Institution.

On 28 February 2012, the Bank obtained approval
from the NBC to change its first legal name from the
Cam Capital Co., Ltd to be Cam Capital Plc. On 1
August 2013, the Bank received approval from NBC
to upgrade to a specialized banking institution and
changed its legal name to Cam Capital Specialized
Bank Plc.

On 19 October 2017, the shareholders of the Bank
entered into Share Sale and Purchase Agreement
to sell 100% of shareholding to Daegu Bank, a bank
incorporated in Daegu, the Republic of Korea. On 28
December 2017, the Bank received approval from NBC
to change its operating name from Cam Capital
Specialized Bank Plc. to DGB Specialized Bank Plc.
The revised specialized banking license was granted
to the Bank on 27 December 2017.

On 30 September 2020, the NBC granted the
commercial banking license to the Bank. The Bank
obtained approval from the NBC on 2 October 2020
to change name from DGB Specialized Bank Plc to
DGB Bank Plc. The amendment of the Bank’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association was
endorsed by Ministry of Commerce on 10 December
2020.

The registered o�ice of the Bank is located at No.
689B, Kampuchea Krom Blvd, Sangkat Teuk Laak
1, Khan Toul Kork, Phnom Penh, the Kingdom of
Cambodia.

The Bank’s financial performance for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the
statement of comprehensive income.

There was no change in the registered and issued
share capital during the year under audit.

No dividend was declared or paid and the Board
of Directors do not recommend any dividend
to be paid for the year (2019: nil).

Before the financial statements of the Bank were
drawn up, the Board of Directors took reasonable
steps to ensure that action had been taken in
relation to the writing o� of bad loans or making
of allowance for expected credit losses and
satisfied themselves that all known bad loans
had been written o� and that adequate allowance
had been made for expected credit losses on
loans and advances.

At the date of this report and based on the best
of knowledge, the Board of Directors is not aware
of any circumstances which would render the
amount written o� for bad loans or the amount
of the allowance for expected credit losses in the
financial statements of the Bank inadequate to
any material extent.

Before the financial statements of the Bank were
drawn up, the Board of Directors took reasonable
steps to ensure that any assets which were unlikely
to be realised in the ordinary course of business
at their value as shown in the accounting records
of the Bank, have been written down to an amount
which they might be expected to realise.

At the date of this report and based on the best
of knowledge, the Board is not aware of any
circumstances which would render the values
attributed to the assets in the financial statements
of the Bank misleading in any material respect.

THE BANK

FINANCIAL RESULTS

SHARE CAPITAL

DIVIDENDS

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES ON
LOANS AND ADVANCES

ASSETS

2121

DGB Bank / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) submits this
report, together with the financial statements of DGB
Bank Plc. (“the Bank”) as at 31 December 2020 and
for the year then ended.

DGB Bank Plc. (“the Bank”) was initially incorporated
in Cambodia as Cam Capital Co, Ltd and registered
with the Ministry of Commerce as a public limited
company under the registration number Co. 6364/
09E, dated 22 December 2009. On 19 March 2012,
the Bank received a new registration number Co.
6364E/2009 from the Ministry of Commerce.

On 17 February 2010, the Bank received an indefinite
license from the National Bank of Cambodia (“NBC”)
to conduct business as a Micro-Finance Institution.

On 28 February 2012, the Bank obtained approval
from the NBC to change its first legal name from the
Cam Capital Co., Ltd to be Cam Capital Plc. On 1
August 2013, the Bank received approval from NBC
to upgrade to a specialized banking institution and
changed its legal name to Cam Capital Specialized
Bank Plc.

On 19 October 2017, the shareholders of the Bank
entered into Share Sale and Purchase Agreement
to sell 100% of shareholding to Daegu Bank, a bank
incorporated in Daegu, the Republic of Korea. On 28
December 2017, the Bank received approval from NBC
to change its operating name from Cam Capital
Specialized Bank Plc. to DGB Specialized Bank Plc.
The revised specialized banking license was granted
to the Bank on 27 December 2017.

On 30 September 2020, the NBC granted the
commercial banking license to the Bank. The Bank
obtained approval from the NBC on 2 October 2020
to change name from DGB Specialized Bank Plc to
DGB Bank Plc. The amendment of the Bank’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association was
endorsed by Ministry of Commerce on 10 December
2020.

The registered o�ice of the Bank is located at No.
689B, Kampuchea Krom Blvd, Sangkat Teuk Laak
1, Khan Toul Kork, Phnom Penh, the Kingdom of
Cambodia.

The Bank’s financial performance for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the
statement of comprehensive income.

There was no change in the registered and issued
share capital during the year under audit.

No dividend was declared or paid and the Board
of Directors do not recommend any dividend
to be paid for the year (2019: nil).

Before the financial statements of the Bank were
drawn up, the Board of Directors took reasonable
steps to ensure that action had been taken in
relation to the writing o� of bad loans or making
of allowance for expected credit losses and
satisfied themselves that all known bad loans
had been written o� and that adequate allowance
had been made for expected credit losses on
loans and advances.

At the date of this report and based on the best
of knowledge, the Board of Directors is not aware
of any circumstances which would render the
amount written o� for bad loans or the amount
of the allowance for expected credit losses in the
financial statements of the Bank inadequate to
any material extent.

Before the financial statements of the Bank were
drawn up, the Board of Directors took reasonable
steps to ensure that any assets which were unlikely
to be realised in the ordinary course of business
at their value as shown in the accounting records
of the Bank, have been written down to an amount
which they might be expected to realise.

At the date of this report and based on the best
of knowledge, the Board is not aware of any
circumstances which would render the values
attributed to the assets in the financial statements
of the Bank misleading in any material respect.

THE BANK

FINANCIAL RESULTS

SHARE CAPITAL

DIVIDENDS

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES ON
LOANS AND ADVANCES

ASSETS

2121



DGB Bank / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware
of any circumstances that have arisen which would
render adherence to the existing method of valuation
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements
of the Bank misleading or inappropriate in any
material respect.

There have been no significant events occurring during
the period between the end of the reporting period
and the date of authorisation of these financial
statements, which would require adjustments or
disclosures to be made in the financial statements.

At the date of this report, there is:
The members of the Board of Directors of the Bank
during the year are:

The members of the Board of Director as at the date
of this report are:

No contingent or other liability of the Bank has become
enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable within
the period of twelve months a¯er the end of the financial
year which, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, will
or may have a material e�ect on the ability of the Bank
to meet its obligations as and when they become due.

At the date of this report, the Board is not aware of any
circumstances, not otherwise dealt with in this report or
the financial statements of the Bank, which would render
any amount stated in the financial statements misleading
in any material respect.

The Bank's financial performance for the year was not,
in the opinion of the Board of Directors, materially a�ected
by any items, transactions or events of a material and
unusual nature.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of
the year and the date of this report any items, transactions
or events of a material and unusual nature likely, in the
opinion of the Board of Directors, to substantially a�ect
the results of the operations of the Bank for the period
in which this report is made.

Ernst & Young (Cambodia) Ltd. is the auditor of the
Bank.

No directors held any interest in the equity of the Bank.
No arrangement existed to which the Bank is a party
with object of enabling the members to obtain an
interest in the Bank or in any corporate body.

(i)  No charge on the assets of the Bank which has
         arisen since the end of the financial year which
         secures the liabilities of any other person, and
(ii)  No contingent liability in respect of the Bank
         that has arisen since the end of the financial year
         other than in the ordinary course of its business
         operations.

VALUATION METHODS EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Oh Sung Ho   Chairman
      (resigned on 29 January 2021)

Mr. Lee Yong Man   Director 
      (resigned on 31 January 2021)

Mr. Lee Sang Rae  Director 
      (resigned on 22 November 2020)

Mr. Lee Joon Sang  Director
      (resigned on 31 January 2021)

Mr. Lee Dong Youl  Independent Director
      (resigned on 31 January 2021)

Mr. Koh Bock Swi  Independent Director
      (resigned on 31 January 2021)

Mr. Lee Byung Hwi  Chairman
      (appointed on 29 January 2021) 

Mr. Cheon Byung Kyu Director
      (appointed on 29 January 2021)

Mr. Park Hyung Joon Independent Director
      (appointed on 29 January 2021)

Mr. Cho Sung Moon  Independent Director
      (appointed on 29 January 2021)

Mr. Kim Jong Doo  Independent Director
      (appointed on 29 January 2021)

CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES

CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES

ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE

AUDITOR

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ INTEREST
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As at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended, no
arrangement existed, to which the Bank is a party, whose
object was to enable the Board of the Bank to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Bank or any other corporate body.

No Board of Directors of the Bank has received or become
entitled to receive any benefit by reason of a contract
made by the Bank or with a firm of which the Director is
a member, or with a company in which the Director has
a material financial interest other than those disclosed
in the financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that the
financial statements give a true and fair view of the respective
financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2020, and
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended. The Board oversees preparation of these financial
statements by management who is required to:

(i) Adopt appropriate accounting policies which are
 supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and
 estimates and then apply them consistently;
(ii) Comply with the disclosure requirements and guidelines
 of Cambodian International Financial Reporting Standards
 (“CIFRSs”) or, if there have been any departures in the
 interest of fair presentation, these have been appropriately
 disclosed, explained and quantified in the financial
 statements;
(iii) Maintain adequate accounting records and an e�ective
 system of internal controls;
(iv) Prepare the financial statements on a going concern
 basis unless it is inappropriate to assume that the Bank
 will continue operations in the foreseeable future; and
(v) E�ectively control and direct the Bank in all material
 decisions a�ecting the operations and performance
 and ascertain that these have been properly reflected
 in the financial statements. 

Management is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting
records are kept which disclose, with reasonable accuracy
at any time, the financial position of the Bank and to ensure
that the accounting records comply with the applicable
accounting system. It is also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Bank and for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

We hereby approve the accompanying financial statements which
give a true and fair view of the respective financial position of
the Bank as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with CIFRSs.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the
Board of Directors,

Phnom Penh, Kingdom of Cambodia
8 April 2021

The Board of Directors confirms that the Bank have complied
with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ BENEFIT

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements
of DGB Bank Plc. (“the Bank”), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
and the statement of comprehensive income, statement
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
CIFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is
responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with CISAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31
December 2020, and its financial performance and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Cambodian International Financial Reporting Standards
(“CIFRSs”).

We conducted our audit in accordance with Cambodian
International Standards on Auditing (“CISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Bank in accordance with the Prakas on the Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants and Auditors issued
by the Royal Government of Cambodia, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with its
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is su�icient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

The financial statements of the Bank as at and for the year
ended 31 December 2019 were audited by another auditor
who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements
on 21 April 2020.

To: The Shareholder of DGB Bank Plc. (formerly DGB Specialized Bank Plc)

OPINION

BASIS FOR OPINION

Responsibilities of the Management and Those
Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

OTHER MATTER

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements

The other information obtained at the date of the auditor’s
report is the Report of the Board of Director. Management is
responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON
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To: The Shareholder of DGB Bank Plc. (formerly DGB Specialized Bank Plc)

OPINION

BASIS FOR OPINION

Responsibilities of the Management and Those
Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

OTHER MATTER

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Financial Statements

The other information obtained at the date of the auditor’s
report is the Report of the Board of Director. Management is
responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON
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As part of an audit in accordance with CISAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
 of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
 error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
 to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is su�icient
 and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
 The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
 from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
 as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
 omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
 internal control. 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
 to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
 are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
 purpose of expressing an opinion on the e�ectiveness
 of the Bank’s internal control. 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
 used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
 and related disclosures made by management. 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s
 use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
 on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
 uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
 may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue
 as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
 uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
 in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
 financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
 to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
 the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
 report. However, future events or conditions may cause
 the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
 of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
 and whether the financial statements represent the
 underlying transactions and events in a manner that
 achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Ernst & Young (Cambodia) Ltd.
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Auditors

Phnom Penh, Kingdom of Cambodia
8 April 2021
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as at 31 December 2020

US$ KHR’000
equivalent 
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent 

(Note 2.3)
(As reclassified- Note 31)ASSETS

Note

LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY 

LIABILITIES

2020 2019

9,049,722

20,064,710

12,248,000

241,553,940

1,171,463

2,370,568

6,680,503

1,928,749

3,046,002

298,113,657

36,606,125

81,161,752

49,543,160

977,085,687

4,738,567

9,588,948

27,022,635

7,801,790

12,321,078

1,205,869,742

4,847,194

3,750,000

-

191,283,277

721,512

1,934,337

27,897

1,875,328

321,573

204,761,118

19,752,316

15,281,250

-

779,479,354

2,940,162

7,882,423

113,680

7,641,962

1,310,410

834,401,557

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposits

Escrow account

Loans and advances

Other assets

Property and equipment

Intangible asset

Right-of-use assets

Deferred tax assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Deposits from customers

Borrowings 

Income tax payable

Other liabilities

Lease liabilities

Provision for employee

benefits

TOTAL LIABILITIES

13

14

15

16

12

17

750,002

176,318,906

2,413,377

12,276,308

2,061,124

317,856

194,137,573

Share capital 

Retained earnings 

General Reserves

Regulatory reserve

Cumulative exchange

di�erences on translation

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

75,000,000

24,780,431

3,000,000

1,195,653

-

103,976,084

298,113,657

300,000,000

100,228,325

12,000,000

4,813,706

3,541,229

420,583,260

1,205,869,742

75,000,000

24,893,836

3,000,000

1,759,082

-

104,652,918

204,761,118

300,000,000

100,690,675

12,000,000

7,110,806

6,659,160

426,460,641

834,401,557

18

19

20

3,033,758

713,209,975

9,762,110

49,657,664

8,337,247

1,285,728

785,286,482

-

95,157,313

2,331,253

316,819

1,972,815

330,000

100,108,200

-

387,766,050

9,499,856

1,291,039

8,039,221

1,344,750

407,940,916

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

15
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2020

US$ KHR’000
equivalent 
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent 

(Note 2.3)
(As reclassified- Note 31)ASSETS

Note

LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY 

LIABILITIES

2020 2019

9,049,722

20,064,710

12,248,000

241,553,940

1,171,463

2,370,568

6,680,503

1,928,749

3,046,002

298,113,657

36,606,125

81,161,752

49,543,160

977,085,687

4,738,567

9,588,948

27,022,635

7,801,790

12,321,078

1,205,869,742

4,847,194

3,750,000

-

191,283,277

721,512

1,934,337

27,897

1,875,328

321,573

204,761,118

19,752,316

15,281,250

-

779,479,354

2,940,162

7,882,423

113,680

7,641,962

1,310,410

834,401,557

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposits

Escrow account

Loans and advances

Other assets

Property and equipment

Intangible asset

Right-of-use assets

Deferred tax assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Deposits from customers

Borrowings 

Income tax payable

Other liabilities

Lease liabilities

Provision for employee

benefits

TOTAL LIABILITIES

13

14

15

16

12

17

750,002

176,318,906

2,413,377

12,276,308

2,061,124

317,856

194,137,573

Share capital 

Retained earnings 

General Reserves

Regulatory reserve

Cumulative exchange

di�erences on translation

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

75,000,000

24,780,431

3,000,000

1,195,653

-

103,976,084

298,113,657

300,000,000

100,228,325

12,000,000

4,813,706

3,541,229

420,583,260

1,205,869,742

75,000,000

24,893,836

3,000,000

1,759,082

-

104,652,918

204,761,118

300,000,000

100,690,675

12,000,000

7,110,806

6,659,160

426,460,641

834,401,557

18

19

20

3,033,758

713,209,975

9,762,110

49,657,664

8,337,247

1,285,728

785,286,482

-

95,157,313

2,331,253

316,819

1,972,815

330,000

100,108,200

-

387,766,050

9,499,856

1,291,039

8,039,221

1,344,750

407,940,916

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

15
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Note 2020 2019

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

Operating income

21

22

23

23

29,663,555

(6,765,019)

22,898,536

836,801

(18,536)

818,265

74,843

23,791,644

(10,632,185)

(12,048,000)

(1,814,014)

(702,555)

25,721

(676,834)

-

(676,834)
(3,117,931)

(5,877,381)
-

10,149,393
5,620,137

46,745,478

104,865

(2,759,450)
(2,292,870)

10,149,393
(9,290,709)

41,125,341

(43,347,418)

(49,119,696)

(7,395,735)

(2,864,315)

(8,089,465)

-

(259,832)

12,442,263

(32,778,512)

-

(1,052,839)

50,416,050

305,135

96,998,534
47,679

20,791,560
193,195

84,247,401

3,411,638

(75,571)

3,336,067

827,807

(11,543)

816,264

3,354,274

(46,772)

3,307,502

120,938,314

(27,580,982)

93,357,332

23,201,471

(3,273,854)

19,927,617

94,012,360

(13,265,656)

80,746,704

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Fees and commission income

Fees and commission expense

Net fees and commission income

Other operating income 

Total operating income

General and administrative

expenses

Other provision

Provisions for expected credit

losses

(Loss) income before income tax 

Income tax benefit (expense) 

Net (loss) income for the year 

Exchange di�erence on translation

Total comprehensive (loss) income

24

9

25
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Note 2020 2019

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

Operating income

21

22

23

23

29,663,555

(6,765,019)

22,898,536

836,801

(18,536)

818,265

74,843

23,791,644

(10,632,185)

(12,048,000)

(1,814,014)

(702,555)

25,721

(676,834)

-

(676,834)
(3,117,931)

(5,877,381)
-

10,149,393
5,620,137

46,745,478

104,865

(2,759,450)
(2,292,870)

10,149,393
(9,290,709)

41,125,341

(43,347,418)

(49,119,696)

(7,395,735)

(2,864,315)

(8,089,465)

-

(259,832)

12,442,263

(32,778,512)

-

(1,052,839)

50,416,050

305,135

96,998,534
47,679

20,791,560
193,195

84,247,401

3,411,638

(75,571)

3,336,067

827,807

(11,543)

816,264

3,354,274

(46,772)

3,307,502

120,938,314

(27,580,982)

93,357,332

23,201,471

(3,273,854)

19,927,617

94,012,360

(13,265,656)

80,746,704

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Fees and commission income

Fees and commission expense

Net fees and commission income

Other operating income 

Total operating income

General and administrative

expenses

Other provision

Provisions for expected credit

losses

(Loss) income before income tax 

Income tax benefit (expense) 

Net (loss) income for the year 

Exchange di�erence on translation

Total comprehensive (loss) income

24

9

25

2727
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Share capital Retained earnings

US$ US$KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

As at 1 January 2020

Net loss for the year

Transfer from retained 

earnings to regulatory reserve

Exchange di�erence on

translation

As at 31 December 2020

As at 1 January 2019 

Net income for the year

Transfer from retained 

earnings to regulatory reserve

Exchange di�erence on

translation

As at 31 December 2019

75,000,000

-

-

-

75,000,000

75,000,000

 -

 -

 -

75,000,000

24,893,836

(676,834)

563,429

-

24,780,431

 15,253,103

 10,149,393

 (508,660)

 -

 24,893,836

100,690,675

(2,759,450)

2,297,100

-

100,228,325

 61,626,424

 41,125,341

 (2,061,090)

 -

100,690,675

300,000,000

-

-

-

300,000,000

300,000,000

 -

 -

 -

300,000,000
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Share capital Retained earnings

US$ US$KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

As at 1 January 2020

Net loss for the year

Transfer from retained 

earnings to regulatory reserve

Exchange di�erence on

translation

As at 31 December 2020

As at 1 January 2019 

Net income for the year

Transfer from retained 

earnings to regulatory reserve

Exchange di�erence on

translation

As at 31 December 2019

75,000,000

-

-

-

75,000,000

75,000,000

 -

 -

 -

75,000,000

24,893,836

(676,834)

563,429

-

24,780,431

 15,253,103

 10,149,393

 (508,660)

 -

 24,893,836

100,690,675

(2,759,450)

2,297,100

-

100,228,325

 61,626,424

 41,125,341

 (2,061,090)

 -

100,690,675

300,000,000

-

-

-

300,000,000

300,000,000

 -

 -

 -

300,000,000
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General Reserves Regulatory reserve TotalCumulative exchange
di�erences on translation 

US$ US$KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

3,000,000

-

-

-

3,000,000

 3,000,000

 -

 -

 -

 3,000,000

12,000,000

-

-

-

12,000,000

 12,000,000

 -

 -

 -

 12,000,000

7,110,806

-

(2,297,100)

-

4,813,706

 5,049,716

 -

 2,061,090

 -

 7,110,806

6,659,160

-

-

(3,117,931)

3,541,229

 1,039,023

 -

 -

 5,620,137

 6,659,160

104,652,918

(676,834)

-

-

103,976,084

 94,503,525

 10,149,393

 -

 -

104,652,918

426,460,641

(2,759,450)

-

(3,117,931)

420,583,260

 379,715,163

 41,125,341

 -

 5,620,137

 426,460,641

1,759,082

-

(563,429)

-

1,195,653

 1,250,422

 -

 508,660

 -

 1,759,082
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General Reserves Regulatory reserve TotalCumulative exchange
di�erences on translation 

US$ US$KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

3,000,000

-

-

-

3,000,000

 3,000,000

 -

 -

 -

 3,000,000

12,000,000

-

-

-

12,000,000

 12,000,000

 -

 -

 -

 12,000,000

7,110,806

-

(2,297,100)

-

4,813,706

 5,049,716

 -

 2,061,090

 -

 7,110,806

6,659,160

-

-

(3,117,931)

3,541,229

 1,039,023

 -

 -

 5,620,137

 6,659,160

104,652,918

(676,834)

-

-

103,976,084

 94,503,525

 10,149,393

 -

 -

104,652,918

426,460,641

(2,759,450)

-

(3,117,931)

420,583,260

 379,715,163

 41,125,341

 -

 5,620,137

 426,460,641

1,759,082

-

(563,429)

-

1,195,653

 1,250,422

 -

 508,660

 -

 1,759,082
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US$ KHR’000
equivalent 
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent 

(Note 2.3)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss) income before tax

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

(Gain) loss on disposal of

property and equipment

Provision for loss on advance

payment to agent

Provision for expected credit losses

Accretion of interest on lease
liabilities

Reversal of provision for seniority

indemnity

Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property and

equipment

Purchases of intangible assets

Proceed from disposal of property

and equipment

Cash used in investing activities 

24

24

9

25

12

15

10

(702,555)

571,454

616,023

(7,025)

12,048,000

1,814,014

104,656

(12,144)

14,432,423

(51,616,323)

(12,248,000)

(12,497,951)

(16,314,710)

750,002

11,854,132

(65,640,427)

(2,616,584)

(68,257,011)

(974,798)

(6,685,493)

7,025

(7,653,266)

(3,974,251)

(27,256,755)

28,641

(31,202,365)

(1,426,002)

(37,655)

-

(1,463,657)

(5,778,160)

(152,578)

-

(5,930,738)

(10,667,813)

(278,283,832)
(1,829,881)

(44,509,688)
(7,414,678)

(180,353,255)

(210,439,749)

(49,935,096)

(50,954,146)

(66,515,073)

3,057,758

48,329,296

(267,616,019)

(60,194,370)

-

(104,154)

-

-

3,860,360

(42,679,807)

(243,907,587)

-

(422,032)

-

-

15,642,179

(172,938,577)

(2,864,315)

2,329,818

2,511,526

(28,641)

49,119,696

7,395,735

426,683

(49,511)

58,840,991

12,442,263

492,618

470,572

702

-

259,832

92,370

-

13,758,357

50,416,050

1,996,088

1,906,758

2,845

-

1,052,839

374,283

-

55,748,863

Changes in working capital:

Loans and advances

Escrow account

Other assets

Statutory deposits

Deposits from customers

Other liabilities

Cash used in operating activities

Note 2020 2019
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

US$ KHR’000
equivalent 
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent 

(Note 2.3)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss) income before tax

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

(Gain) loss on disposal of

property and equipment

Provision for loss on advance

payment to agent

Provision for expected credit losses

Accretion of interest on lease
liabilities

Reversal of provision for seniority

indemnity

Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property and

equipment

Purchases of intangible assets

Proceed from disposal of property

and equipment

Cash used in investing activities 

24

24

9

25

12

15

10

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash used in investing activities

(702,555)

571,454

616,023

(7,025)

12,048,000

1,814,014

104,656

(12,144)

14,432,423

(51,616,323)

(12,248,000)

(12,497,951)

(16,314,710)

750,002

11,854,132

(65,640,427)

(2,616,584)

(68,257,011)

(974,798)

(6,685,493)

7,025

(7,653,266)

(3,974,251)

(27,256,755)

28,641

(31,202,365)

(1,426,002)

(37,655)

-

(1,463,657)

(5,778,160)

(152,578)

-

(5,930,738)

(10,667,813)

(278,283,832)
(1,829,881)

(44,509,688)
(7,414,678)

(180,353,255)

(210,439,749)

(49,935,096)

(50,954,146)

(66,515,073)

3,057,758

48,329,296

(267,616,019)

(60,194,370)

-

(104,154)

-

-

3,860,360

(42,679,807)

(243,907,587)

-

(422,032)

-

-

15,642,179

(172,938,577)

(2,864,315)

2,329,818

2,511,526

(28,641)

49,119,696

7,395,735

426,683

(49,511)

58,840,991

12,442,263

492,618

470,572

702

-

259,832

92,370

-

13,758,357

50,416,050

1,996,088

1,906,758

2,845

-

1,052,839

374,283

-

55,748,863

Changes in working capital:

Loans and advances

Escrow account

Other assets

Statutory deposits

Deposits from customers

Other liabilities

Cash used in operating activities

Note 2020 2019
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US$ KHR’000
equivalent 
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent 

(Note 2.3)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings 

Repayment of borrowings 

Payments of lease liabilities 

Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of year

Exchange di�erence on translation

Additional information on operational cash flow from interest:

Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year

Net cash provided by
financing activities

14

12

5

80,967,386

(13,151)

(685,791)

80,268,444

4,358,167

327,254,446

17,768,249

50,484,964

4,511,619

204,565,074

18,281,081

4,881,705

-

9,239,872 37,375,283 4,881,705 19,892,948

Interest received

Interest paid

29,031,455

(6,452,098)

118,361,242

(26,305,204)

26,702,437

(3,083,953)

108,198,275

(12,496,178)

19,892,948

(285,914)

370,086

-

1,499,588

112,279

330,104,033

(53,617)

(2,795,970)

51,000,000

-

(515,036)

206,652,000

-

(2,086,926)

Note 2020 2019
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DGB Bank Plc. (“the Bank”) was initially incorporated

in Cambodia as Cam Capital Co, Ltd and registered

with the Ministry of Commerce as a public limited

company under the registration number Co. 6364/09E,

dated 22 December 2009. On 19 March 2012, the Bank

received a new registration number Co. 6364E/2009

from the Ministry of Commerce.

On 17 February 2010, the Bank received an indefinite

license from the National Bank of Cambodia (“NBC”)

to conduct business as a Micro-Finance Institution.

On 28 February 2012, the Bank obtained approval from

the NBC to change its first legal name from the Cam

Capital Co., Ltd to be Cam Capital Plc. On 1 August 2013,

the Bank received approval from NBC to upgrade to a

specialized banking institution and changed its legal

name to Cam Capital Specialized Bank Plc.

On 19 October 2017, the shareholders of the Bank entered

into Share Sale and Purchase Agreement to sell 100%

of shareholding to Daegu Bank, a bank incorporated

in Daegu, the Republic of Korea. On 28 December 2017,

the Bank received approval from NBC to change its

operating name from Cam Capital Specialized Bank Plc.

to DGB Specialized Bank Plc. The revised specialized

banking license was granted to the Bank on 27

December 2017. 

On 30 September 2020, the NBC granted the commercial

banking license to the Bank. The Bank obtained approval

from the NBC on 2 October 2020 to change name from

DGB Specialized Bank Plc to DGB Bank Plc. The

amendment of the Bank’s Memorandum and Articles

of Association was endorsed by Ministry of Commerce

on 10 December 2020.

The registered o�ice of the Bank is located at No. 689B,

Kampuchea Krom Blvd, Sangkat Teuk Laak 1, Khan

Toul Kork, Phnom Penh, the Kingdom of Cambodia.

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

2.1 Basis of preparation

2.2  Fiscal year

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared

on historical cost basis, except for otherwise indicated.

The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with Cambodian International Financial Reporting

Standards (“CIFRSs”).

The Bank’s fiscal year starts on 1 January and ends on

31 December.

Employees
As at 31 December 2020, the Bank has a total of 589

employees (2019: 509 employees).

Approval of the Bank’s financial statements
The financial statements were authorized for issue by

the Board of Directors on 8 April 2021.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
     STATEMENTS

The national currency of Cambodia is the Khmer Riel

(“KHR”). However, as the Bank transacts its business

and maintains its accounting records primarily in United

States dollar (“US$”), management has determined the

US$ to be the Bank’s measurement and presentation

currency as it reflects the economic substance of the

underlying events and circumstances of the Bank.

Presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in US$, which

is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in currencies other than US$ are translated

into US$ at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date

of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in currencies other than US$ which are

outstanding at the reporting date are translated into

US$ at the rate of exchange ruling at that date. Exchange

di�erences arising on translation are recognized in profit

or loss.

2.3 Measurement and presentation currency
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2020 and for the year then ended
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Translation of US$ in KHR

The translation of the US$ amounts into thousands

KHR (“KHR’000”) is presented in the financial statements

to comply with the Law on Accounting and Audit using

the closing and average rates for the year then ended.

Assets and liabilities included in the statement of

financial position are translated at the closing rate

prevailing at the end of each reporting date, whereas

income and expense items presented in the statement

of comprehensive income are translated at the average

rate for the year then ended. All resulting exchange

di�erences are recognized in the statement of

comprehensive income. Such translation should not

be construed as a representation that the US$ amounts

represent, or have been or could be, converted into KHR

at that or any other rate. All values in KHR are rounded

to the nearest thousand (“KHR’000”), except if otherwise

indicated.

The Bank’s financial assets and liabilities include cash on

hand, balances with other banks, balances with the NBC

other than statutory deposits, loans and advances to

customers, other assets (except for non-refundable

deposits, and prepayments), deposits from customers,

borrowings and other liabilities (except for tax payable).

The Bank measures financial assets at amortised cost only

if both of the following conditions are met:

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business

model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level that best

reflects how the assets are managed. Factors considered

includes:

• The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the

 operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether

 management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual

 interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate

 profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to

 the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets

 or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;

• How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and

 reported to the Bank’s management;

• The risks that a�ect the performance of the business model

 (and the financial assets held within that business model)

 and its strategy for how those risks are managed;

• How managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether

 compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed

 or the contractual cash flows collected); and

• The financial asset is held within a business model with

 the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect

 contractual cash flows.

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on

 specified date to cash flows that are solely payments of

 principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

3.1.2 Business model assessment

The financial statements are presented in KHR based

on the applicable exchange rates per US$1 as follows:

The accounting policies set out below have been applied

consistently to all periods presented in these financial

statements, unless otherwise indicated.

The Bank classifies all its financial assets and financial

liabilities based on its business model for managing the

assets’ contractual terms measured at amortised cost.

Amortised cost is an amount at which the financial asset

or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus

the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative

amortisation using the e�ective interest method of any

di�erence between that initial amount and the maturity

amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss

allowance.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
     POLICIES

3.1 Financial instruments
3.1.1 Classification

Closing rate

Average rate

2020 2019

4,045

4,077

4,075

4,052
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• The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods,

 the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future

 sales activity. However, information about sales activity is

 not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment

 of how the Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial

 assets is achieved and how cash flows are realized.

• Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and

 whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are

 measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) because

 they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor

 held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial

 assets.

The Bank typically considers the following information

when making this judgement:

• whether the contractual arrangement specifically

 defines the amounts and dates of the cash payments

 of the loan;

• the fair value of the collateral relative to the amount

 of the secured financial asset;

• the ability and willingness of the borrower to make

 contractual payments, notwithstanding a decline

 in the value of collateral;

• whether the borrower is an individual or a substantive

 operating entity or is a special-purpose entity;

• the Bank’s risk of loss on the asset relative to a

 full-recourse loan;

• the extent to which the collateral represents all

 or a substantial portion of the borrower’s assets; and

• whether the Bank will benefit from any upside from

 the underlying assets.

Reclassification

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their

initial recognition, except in the period a¯er the Bank

changes its business model for managing financial assets.

For purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair

value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is

defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the

credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding

during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks

and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as

profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Bank

considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes

assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term

that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows

such that it would not meet this condition.

In making the assessment, the Bank considers:

• contingent events that would change the amount and timing

 of cash flows;

• leverage features;

• prepayment and extension terms;

• terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified

 assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and

• features that modify consideration of the time value of money

 (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates).

Non-recourse loans

In most cases, loans made by the Bank that are secured by

collateral of the borrower limit the Bank’s claim to cash

flows of the underlying collateral (non-recourse loans).

The Bank applies judgment in assessing whether the non-

recourse loans meet the SPPI criterion. 

Financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual

rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it

transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in

a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards

of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which

the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the

risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control

of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the di�erence between

the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount

allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the

sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset

obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative

gain or loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in

profit or loss.

3.1.3   Solely payments of principal and interest
    (“SPPI”) test

3.1.4 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
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Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under

the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an existing

financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender

on substantially di�erent terms, or the terms of an existing

liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or

modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability

and the recognition of a new liability. The di�erence between

the carrying value of the original financial liability and the

consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss.

 e�ective interest rate of the asset and recognizes the

 resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in

 profit or loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the original

 e�ective interest rate used to calculate the modification

 gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at

 the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred,

 and fees received as part of the modification adjust the

 gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset

 and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified

 financial asset.

• If such a modification is carried out because of financial

 di�iculties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is presented

 together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is

 presented as interest income calculated using the e�ective

 interest rate method.

• Loan restructuring during the Covid-19 crisis: In response

 to the economic situation caused by the COVID-19

 pandemic, and in order to maintain financial stability

 and relieve the burden of borrowers whose main sources

 of income are impacted by the pandemic the NBC has

 issued Circular No. T7.020.001 directing banking and

 financial institutions in Cambodia to be flexible with

 regard to debt repayment by o�ering loan restructuring

 for customers. The loan restructuring applies to performing

 loans (those that are not past due more than 30 days)

 and non-performing loans for customers whose financial

 di�iculties are expected to be temporary only, and is valid

 until 30 June 2021. In all cases, the loan classifications

 for non-performing loans remain the same.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are o�set and the net

amount presented in the statement of financial position when,

and only when, the Bank has a legal right to set o� the amounts

and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Bank

evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are

substantially di�erent.

If the cash flows are substantially di�erent, then the contractual

rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed

to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is

derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair

value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as

part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

• Fees that are considered in determining the fair value of

 the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of

 eligible transaction costs are included in the initial

 measurement of the asset; and

• Other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain

 or loss on derecognition.

• If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial

 di�iculties, then the objective of the modification is usually

 to maximize recovery of the original contractual terms

 rather than to originate a new asset with substantially

 di�erent terms. If the Bank plans to modify a financial

 asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash

 flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset

 should be written o� before the modification takes place

 (see below for write-o� policy). This approach impacts

 the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that

 the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases.

• If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised

 cost or FVOCI does not result in derecognition of the

 financial asset, then the Bank first recalculates the gross

 carrying amount of the financial asset using the original

3.1.5 Modifications and forbearance of financial
           assets 

3.1.6  O�setting
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value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as

part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

• Fees that are considered in determining the fair value of

 the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of

 eligible transaction costs are included in the initial

 measurement of the asset; and

• Other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain

 or loss on derecognition.

• If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial

 di�iculties, then the objective of the modification is usually

 to maximize recovery of the original contractual terms

 rather than to originate a new asset with substantially

 di�erent terms. If the Bank plans to modify a financial

 asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash

 flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset

 should be written o� before the modification takes place

 (see below for write-o� policy). This approach impacts

 the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that

 the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases.

• If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised

 cost or FVOCI does not result in derecognition of the

 financial asset, then the Bank first recalculates the gross

 carrying amount of the financial asset using the original

3.1.5 Modifications and forbearance of financial
           assets 

3.1.6  O�setting
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‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset

or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between

market participants at the measurement date in the principal

or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the

Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects

its non-performance risk.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price

and an ask price, then the Bank measures assets and long

positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at

an ask price.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature

(e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable

on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount

could be required to be paid.

The Bank recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value

hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which

the change has occurred.

The Bank recognizes a loss allowance for ECLs on the following

financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:

• Financial assets that are debt instruments; and

• Loan commitments issued.

The Bank measures loss allowance at an amount equal to

lifetime ECL except for other

financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased

significantly since their initial recognition for which they are

measured as 12-month ECL.

The 12-month ECL is the portion of ECL that results from default

events on a financial instrument that are possible within the

12 months a¯er the reporting date. Financial instruments for

which a 12-month ECL is recognized are referred to as ‘Stage

1 financial instruments’.

Life-time ECL is the ECL that results from all possible default

events over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognized

but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2

financial instruments’.

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether the credit

risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since

initial recognition.  When credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When one is available, the Bank measures the fair value of an

instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that

instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for

the asset or liability take place with su�icient frequency and

volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank

uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant

observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors

that market participants would take into account in pricing a

transaction.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank

uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant

observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors

that market participants would take into account in pricing a

transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on

initial recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair

value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank determines

that the fair value on initial recognition di�ers from the transaction

price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price

in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based

on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs

are judged to be insignificant in relation to the measurement,

then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value,

adjusted to defer the di�erence between the fair value on initial

recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that

di�erence is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate basis

over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation

is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction

is closed out.

3.1.7  Fair value measurement

3.1.8 Expected credit loss (“ECL”)
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‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset

or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between

market participants at the measurement date in the principal

or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the

Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects

its non-performance risk.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price

and an ask price, then the Bank measures assets and long

positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at

an ask price.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature

(e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable

on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount

could be required to be paid.

The Bank recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value

hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which

the change has occurred.

The Bank recognizes a loss allowance for ECLs on the following

financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:

• Financial assets that are debt instruments; and

• Loan commitments issued.

The Bank measures loss allowance at an amount equal to

lifetime ECL except for other

financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased

significantly since their initial recognition for which they are

measured as 12-month ECL.

The 12-month ECL is the portion of ECL that results from default

events on a financial instrument that are possible within the

12 months a¯er the reporting date. Financial instruments for

which a 12-month ECL is recognized are referred to as ‘Stage

1 financial instruments’.

Life-time ECL is the ECL that results from all possible default

events over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognized

but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2

financial instruments’.

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether the credit

risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since

initial recognition.  When credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When one is available, the Bank measures the fair value of an

instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that

instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for

the asset or liability take place with su�icient frequency and

volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank

uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant

observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors

that market participants would take into account in pricing a

transaction.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank

uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of relevant

observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors

that market participants would take into account in pricing a

transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on

initial recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair

value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank determines

that the fair value on initial recognition di�ers from the transaction

price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price

in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based

on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs

are judged to be insignificant in relation to the measurement,

then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value,

adjusted to defer the di�erence between the fair value on initial

recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that

di�erence is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate basis

over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation

is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction

is closed out.

3.1.7  Fair value measurement

3.1.8 Expected credit loss (“ECL”)
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If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recog-

nition or if the credit quality of the financial instruments improves

such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk

since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to the 12-month ECL.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the

maximum contractual period over which the Bank is exposed

to credit risk.

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly

The Bank assesses whether credit risk has increased signific-

antly since initial recognition at each reporting date. Determi-

ning whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends 

on the characteristics of the financial instrument and the bor-

rower, and the geographical region.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase

in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss allow-

ance on an instrument returns to being measured as 12-month

ECL.

The Bank considers that a significant increase in credit risk

occurs no later than when an asset is more than 90 days past

due. Days past due is determined by counting the number of

days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which

full payment has not been received. Due date is determined

without considering any grace period that might be available

to the borrower.

Definition of default

The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:

• The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the

 Bank in full, without recourse by the Bank to actions such

 as realising security (if any is held); or

• The Bank considers that a significant increase in credit risk

 occurs no later than when an asset is more than or equal

 to 90 days past due

• When account shows deterioration in its credit profile

 but its delinquency does not exceed 90 days past due

 (forced accounts) 

• When accounts are crossed default by obligor(s) of the

 same borrower type within the same loan listing source

Measurement of ECL 

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit loss measured

as follows:

• Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting

 date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the

 di�erence between the cash flows due to the entity in

 accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the

 Bank expects to receive);

• Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting

 date: as the di�erence between the gross carrying amount

 and the present value of estimated future cash flows; and 

• Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the

 di�erence between the contractual cash flows that are due

 to the Bank if the commitment is drawn down and the

 cash flows that the Bank expects to receive.

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating

impairment

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term

structure of the following variables:

• Probability of default (“PD”);

• Loss given default (“LGD”); and

• Exposure at default (“EAD”). 

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The

Bank estimates LGD parameters based on the history of recovery

rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD

models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim,

counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that

is integral to the financial asset. The LGD is computed based

on a workout style method. The workout style method is based

on a set of derived estimated cash flows (i.e. collection or sale

of collateral) during the workout period and discounted by the

e�ective interest rate to the date of default. 

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the

12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated by

multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

The Bank adopt the delinquency based transition matrix,

historical loss rate model and proxy models to estimate its PD.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset

has increased significantly since initial recognition and when

estimating ECLs, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable

information that is relevant and available without undue cost

or e�ort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative

information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical

experience and informed credit assessment and includes

forward-looking information.
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If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recog-

nition or if the credit quality of the financial instruments improves

such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk

since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to the 12-month ECL.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the

maximum contractual period over which the Bank is exposed

to credit risk.

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly

The Bank assesses whether credit risk has increased signific-

antly since initial recognition at each reporting date. Determi-

ning whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends 

on the characteristics of the financial instrument and the bor-

rower, and the geographical region.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase

in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss allow-

ance on an instrument returns to being measured as 12-month

ECL.

The Bank considers that a significant increase in credit risk

occurs no later than when an asset is more than 90 days past

due. Days past due is determined by counting the number of

days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which

full payment has not been received. Due date is determined

without considering any grace period that might be available

to the borrower.

Definition of default

The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when:

• The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the

 Bank in full, without recourse by the Bank to actions such

 as realising security (if any is held); or

• The Bank considers that a significant increase in credit risk

 occurs no later than when an asset is more than or equal

 to 90 days past due

• When account shows deterioration in its credit profile

 but its delinquency does not exceed 90 days past due

 (forced accounts) 

• When accounts are crossed default by obligor(s) of the

 same borrower type within the same loan listing source

Measurement of ECL 

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit loss measured

as follows:

• Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting

 date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the

 di�erence between the cash flows due to the entity in

 accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the

 Bank expects to receive);

• Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting

 date: as the di�erence between the gross carrying amount

 and the present value of estimated future cash flows; and 

• Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the

 di�erence between the contractual cash flows that are due

 to the Bank if the commitment is drawn down and the

 cash flows that the Bank expects to receive.

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating

impairment

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term

structure of the following variables:

• Probability of default (“PD”);

• Loss given default (“LGD”); and

• Exposure at default (“EAD”). 

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The

Bank estimates LGD parameters based on the history of recovery

rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD

models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim,

counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that

is integral to the financial asset. The LGD is computed based

on a workout style method. The workout style method is based

on a set of derived estimated cash flows (i.e. collection or sale

of collateral) during the workout period and discounted by the

e�ective interest rate to the date of default. 

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the

12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated by

multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

The Bank adopt the delinquency based transition matrix,

historical loss rate model and proxy models to estimate its PD.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset

has increased significantly since initial recognition and when

estimating ECLs, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable

information that is relevant and available without undue cost

or e�ort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative

information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical

experience and informed credit assessment and includes

forward-looking information.
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Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating

impairment (continued)

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default.

The Bank derives the EAD from the current exposure to the

counterparty and potential changes to the current amount

allowed under the contract and arising from amortisation.

The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at

the time of default. For lending commitments, the EADs are

potential future amounts that may be drawn under the con-

tract, which are estimated based on historical observations

and forward-looking forecasts. For some financial assets, EAD

is determined by modelling the range of possible exposure

outcomes at various points in time using scenario and statistical

techniques.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month

PD for Stage 1 financial assets, the Bank measures ECL considering

the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including

any borrower’s extension options) over which it is exposed to credit

risk, even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Bank considers

a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to the

date at which the Bank has the right to require repayment of an

advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets

carried at amortized cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI

are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial

asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detr-

imental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial

asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the follo-

wing observable data:

• Significant financial di�iculty of the borrower or issuer;

• A breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

• The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms

 that the Bank would not consider otherwise;

• It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy

 or other financial reorganization; or

• The disappearance of an active market for a security because

 of financial di�iculties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the

borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit-impaired

unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual

cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indi-

cators of impairment. In addition, a loan that is overdue for 90 days

or more is considered credit-impaired even when the regulatory

definition of default is di�erent.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial

position

Allowance for ECLs is presented in the statement of financial

position for financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a

deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

Write-o�

Loans and advances are written o� (either partially or in full)

when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial

asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case

when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have

assets or sources of income that could generate su�icient cash

flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-o�. This asses-

sment is carried out at the individual asset level.

Recoveries resulting from the Bank’s enforcement activities will

result in impairment gains, which will be presented in ‘net imp-

airment loss on financial assets/other income’ in profit or loss.

Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an

existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial

di�iculties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether

the financial asset should be derecognized and ECL is measured as

follows.

• If the expected restructuring will not result in derec-

 ognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash

 flows arising from the modified financial asset are

 included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the

 existing asset.

• If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition

 of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the

 new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the

 existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition.

 This amount is included in calculating the cash sho-

 rtfalls from the existing financial asset that are disc-

 ounted from the expected date of derecognition to

 the reporting date using the original e�ective interest

 rate of the existing financial asset.
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Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating

impairment (continued)

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default.

The Bank derives the EAD from the current exposure to the

counterparty and potential changes to the current amount

allowed under the contract and arising from amortisation.

The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at

the time of default. For lending commitments, the EADs are

potential future amounts that may be drawn under the con-

tract, which are estimated based on historical observations

and forward-looking forecasts. For some financial assets, EAD

is determined by modelling the range of possible exposure

outcomes at various points in time using scenario and statistical

techniques.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month

PD for Stage 1 financial assets, the Bank measures ECL considering

the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including

any borrower’s extension options) over which it is exposed to credit

risk, even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Bank considers

a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to the

date at which the Bank has the right to require repayment of an

advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets

carried at amortized cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI

are credit-impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial

asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detr-

imental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial

asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the follo-

wing observable data:

• Significant financial di�iculty of the borrower or issuer;

• A breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

• The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms

 that the Bank would not consider otherwise;

• It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy

 or other financial reorganization; or

• The disappearance of an active market for a security because

 of financial di�iculties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the

borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit-impaired

unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual

cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indi-

cators of impairment. In addition, a loan that is overdue for 90 days

or more is considered credit-impaired even when the regulatory

definition of default is di�erent.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial

position

Allowance for ECLs is presented in the statement of financial

position for financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a

deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

Write-o�

Loans and advances are written o� (either partially or in full)

when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial

asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case

when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have

assets or sources of income that could generate su�icient cash

flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-o�. This asses-

sment is carried out at the individual asset level.

Recoveries resulting from the Bank’s enforcement activities will

result in impairment gains, which will be presented in ‘net imp-

airment loss on financial assets/other income’ in profit or loss.

Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an

existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial

di�iculties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether

the financial asset should be derecognized and ECL is measured as

follows.

• If the expected restructuring will not result in derec-

 ognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash

 flows arising from the modified financial asset are

 included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the

 existing asset.

• If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition

 of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the

 new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the

 existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition.

 This amount is included in calculating the cash sho-

 rtfalls from the existing financial asset that are disc-

 ounted from the expected date of derecognition to

 the reporting date using the original e�ective interest

 rate of the existing financial asset.
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For statement of cash flow purposes, cash and cash equivalents

consist of cash, deposits with other banks, and highly-liquid

short-term investments with an original maturity of less than

three months that are readily convertible to known amounts

of cash.

Leasehold improvement 20% 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 25%

Computers and IT equipment 50%

Motor vehicles 25%

(c) Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying

 amount or recognized as a separate asset, as approp-

 riate, only when it is probable that future economic

 benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank

 and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All

 other repairs and maintenance are charged to the

 statement of comprehensive income during the finan-

 cial period in which they are incurred.

(d) When assets are sold, their cost and accumulated

 depreciation are removed from the accounts. Any

 resulting gain or loss from their disposal is included in

 the statement of comprehensive income. Gains and

 losses on disposals are determined by comparing the

 proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included

 in the statement of comprehensive income in other

 operating income. When revalued assets are sold, the

 amounts included in the revaluation surplus are tran-

 sferred to retained profits.

(e) Construction in progress is not depreciated until it is

 ready for intended use. 

(f) Fully depreciated items of property and equipment are

 retained in the financial statements until they are

 disposed of or written o�.

Deposits and placements with banks are stated at cost less

allowance for expected credit losses.

Capital guarantee and reserve requirements are maintained

with the NBC in compliance with the Cambodian Law on

Banking and Financial Institutions determined at defined

percentages of minimum share capital and total deposits

from customers and borrowings in KHR and other currencies.

‘Loans and advances’ in the statement of financial position

include loans and advances measured at amortised cost

less impairment based on ECL. They are initially measured

at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and

subsequently at their amortized cost using the e�ective

interest method.

Other assets are carried at cost less impairment if any.

(a) Property and equipment are stated at cost less accu-

 mulated depreciation and impairment, if any. The

 cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any

 directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its

 working condition and location for its intended use.

 The carrying amounts are reviewed at each financial

 year-end to assess whether they are recorded in excess

 of their recoverable amount, and where carrying values

 exceed this recoverable amount, assets are written

 down to their recoverable amount.

(b) Depreciation is charged in the statement of compreh-

 ensive income using a straight-line basis over the esti-

 mated useful lives of the individual assets, at the foll-

 owing annual rates:

Intangible assets comprising acquired computer so¯ware

licenses and related costs are stated at cost less accumulated

amortisation and impairment loss.  Acquired computer

so¯ware licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs

incurred to acquire the specific so¯ware and bring it to use.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over

their estimated useful life of 5 years.

So¯ware under development includes the costs of developing

new so¯ware not fully completed as at reporting date. So¯ware

under development is not amortized until such time as the

relevant so¯ware is completed and put into operational use.

Costs associated with the development or maintenance of

computer so¯ware are recognized as expenses when incurred.

3.2 Cash and cash equivalents

3.3 Deposits and placements with banks

3.4 Statutory deposits

3.5 Loans and advances

3.6 Other assets

3.7 Property and equipment 3.8 Intangible assets
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For statement of cash flow purposes, cash and cash equivalents

consist of cash, deposits with other banks, and highly-liquid

short-term investments with an original maturity of less than

three months that are readily convertible to known amounts

of cash.

Leasehold improvement 20% 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 25%

Computers and IT equipment 50%

Motor vehicles 25%

(c) Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying

 amount or recognized as a separate asset, as approp-

 riate, only when it is probable that future economic

 benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank

 and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All

 other repairs and maintenance are charged to the

 statement of comprehensive income during the finan-

 cial period in which they are incurred.

(d) When assets are sold, their cost and accumulated

 depreciation are removed from the accounts. Any

 resulting gain or loss from their disposal is included in

 the statement of comprehensive income. Gains and

 losses on disposals are determined by comparing the

 proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included

 in the statement of comprehensive income in other

 operating income. When revalued assets are sold, the

 amounts included in the revaluation surplus are tran-

 sferred to retained profits.

(e) Construction in progress is not depreciated until it is

 ready for intended use. 

(f) Fully depreciated items of property and equipment are

 retained in the financial statements until they are

 disposed of or written o�.

Deposits and placements with banks are stated at cost less

allowance for expected credit losses.

Capital guarantee and reserve requirements are maintained

with the NBC in compliance with the Cambodian Law on

Banking and Financial Institutions determined at defined

percentages of minimum share capital and total deposits

from customers and borrowings in KHR and other currencies.

‘Loans and advances’ in the statement of financial position

include loans and advances measured at amortised cost

less impairment based on ECL. They are initially measured

at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and

subsequently at their amortized cost using the e�ective

interest method.

Other assets are carried at cost less impairment if any.

(a) Property and equipment are stated at cost less accu-

 mulated depreciation and impairment, if any. The

 cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any

 directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its

 working condition and location for its intended use.

 The carrying amounts are reviewed at each financial

 year-end to assess whether they are recorded in excess

 of their recoverable amount, and where carrying values

 exceed this recoverable amount, assets are written

 down to their recoverable amount.

(b) Depreciation is charged in the statement of compreh-

 ensive income using a straight-line basis over the esti-

 mated useful lives of the individual assets, at the foll-

 owing annual rates:

Intangible assets comprising acquired computer so¯ware

licenses and related costs are stated at cost less accumulated

amortisation and impairment loss.  Acquired computer

so¯ware licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs

incurred to acquire the specific so¯ware and bring it to use.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over

their estimated useful life of 5 years.

So¯ware under development includes the costs of developing

new so¯ware not fully completed as at reporting date. So¯ware

under development is not amortized until such time as the

relevant so¯ware is completed and put into operational use.

Costs associated with the development or maintenance of

computer so¯ware are recognized as expenses when incurred.

3.2 Cash and cash equivalents

3.3 Deposits and placements with banks

3.4 Statutory deposits

3.5 Loans and advances

3.6 Other assets

3.7 Property and equipment 3.8 Intangible assets
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The Bank assesses at contract inception whether a contr-

act is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys

the right to control the use of an identified asset for a per-

iod of time in exchange for consideration.

Right-of-use assets

The Bank recognizes right-of-use assets at the commenc-

ement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset

is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at

cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment

losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease lia-

bilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount

of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred,

and lease payments made at or before the commencem-

ent date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use

assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the

shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of

the assets. The Bank’s leased assets are o�ice rental for all

the Banks.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Bank at the

end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a

purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the es-

timated useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets are

also subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Bank recognizes

lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease pa-

yments to be made over the lease term. In calculating the

present value of lease payments, the Bank uses its increm-

ental borrowing rate (“IBR”) at the lease commencement

date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not

readily determinable. A¯er the commencement date, the

amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion

of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.

In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is rem-

easured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,

a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future pa-

yments resulting from a change in rate used to determine

such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an

option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Bank applies the short-term lease recognition exem-

ption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have a

lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement

date and do not contain a purchase option) and lease of

low-value assets. The Bank leases photocopiers that are

considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term

leases and leases of low value assets are recognized as

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses,

and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in

which the associated services are rendered by employees

of the Bank.

On 21 September 2018, the Ministry of Labor and Vocational

Training (“MoLVT”) issued Prakas No. 443 on Seniority Pay-

ment. This Prakas is applicable to all enterprises, establis-

hments and those who are covered by the provisions of

Article 89 (New) of the Labor Law. For enterprises other than

textile, garment and footwear enterprise, the said Prakas

requires retroactive seniority payment (prior to the release

of the Prakas)  equal to fi¯een (15) days per year of emplo-

yees’ wages. On 22 March 2019, the MoLVT issued guideline

number 042/19 to delay the payment of the retroactive se-

niority payment starting from December 2021 which shall

be paid as follows:

• Equal to three days payable every June; and

• Equal to three days payable every December.

The retroactive seniority payment shall not exceed 6 months

of an employee’s average wage of each retrospective year.

Employees are not entitled to the payment if they resign

before receiving it.

The estimated amount of retroactive seniority payment was

recognized under other liabilities (Note 16).

The Bank as a lessee

The Bank applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and

leases of low-value assets. The Bank recognizes lease lia-

bilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

3.9 Leases

3.10 Employee benefits
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The Prakas on regulatory provision requires banks and

financial institutions to classify their loan portfolio into five

classes and provide general and specific allowance based

on the loan classification as follows:

E�ective interest rate (“EIR”) is a rate that exactly disc-

ounts estimated future cash payments or receipts thr-

ough the expected life of the financial asset or financi-

al liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial

asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

When calculating the e�ective interest rate, the Bank

estimates the expected cash flow by considering all the

contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not

considering the expected credit loss. The calculation

includes all fees and points paid or received between

parties to the contract that are an integral part of the

e�ective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other

premiums or discounts.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are dir-

ectly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal

of a financial asset or financial liability. An incremental

cost is one that would not have been incurred if the

entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of the fi-

nancial instrument.

Provisions are recognized in the statement of financial

position when the Bank has a legal or constructive oblig-

ation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an

outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation. If the e�ect is material, provisions are determ-

ined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a

pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of

the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks

specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is

recognized as finance cost.

The general reserve are set up for any overall financial

risk. The Board of Directors exercises its discretion for

the use and maintenance of the general reserve. The

transfer from retained earnings to general reserves is

subject to the approval of the Board of Directors of the

Bank.

A regulatory reserve is established for the di�erence

between the provision for expected credit losses as

determined in accordance with CIFRS 9 and the regul-

atory provision in accordance with NBC Prakas No. B7-

017-344 dated 1 December 2017 and Circular No. B7-

018-001 dated 16 February 2018 on credit risk classifi-

cation and provisioning for banks and financial instit-

utions. The Bank compares the regulatory provision

with the provision calculated in accordance with CIF-

RS 9, and:

(i) In case the regulatory provision calculated is lower

 than the provision calculated in accordance with

 CIFRS 9, the Bank records the provision calculated

 in accordance with CIFRS 9; and 

(ii)  In case the regulatory provision calculated is higher

 than the provision calculated in CIFRS 9, the Bank

 records the provision calculated in accordance with

 CIFRS 9 and transfer the di�erence from the retai-

 ned earnings or accumulated loss account to reg-

 ulatory reserve in the shareholders’ equity of the

 statement of the financial position.

3.11  Provisions

3.12  General reserve

3.14 E�ective interest rate method

3.13 Regulatory reserve

Standard

Special mention

Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

0 to 14 days (short-term)

0 to 29 days (long-term)

15 days to 30 days (short-term)

30 days to 89 days (long-term)

31 days to 60 days (short-term)

90 days to 179 days (long-term)

61 days to 90 days (short-term)

180 days to 359 days (long-term)

From 91 days (short-term)

360 days or more (long-term)

Classification Number of days past due Allowance rate

1%

3%

20%

50%

100%
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Interest income

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss using the

e�ective interest method. It is calculated by applying the

e�ective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of fin-

ancial asset except for: 

• Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial

 assets. Credit-adjusted EIR is applied to the amortised

 cost of the financial assets.

• Financial assets that are not purchased or originated

 credit-impaired financial assets but subsequently have

 become credit-impaired financial assets. EIR to the

 amortised cost of the financial asset in subsequent

 reporting periods is applied.

Credit-adjusted e�ective interest rate is a rate that exactly

discounts the estimated future cash payment or receipts

through the expected life of the financial asset to the am-

ortised cost of a financial assets that is a purchased or

originated credit-impaired financial asset. 

Interest income calculated using the e�ective interest

method presented in the statement of comprehensive in-

come includes interest on financial assets measured at

amortized cost.

Interest expense

Interest expense is also calculated using the EIR method

for all financial liabilities held at amortised cost. Interest

expense presented in the statement of comprehensive in-

come includes financial liabilities measured at amortized

cost.

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral

to the e�ective interest rate on a financial asset or financial

liability are included in the e�ective interest rate.

i) Identify the contract(s) with a customer

ii) Identify the performance obligations in the contract

iii) Determine the transaction price

iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance ob-

 ligation in the contract

v) Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a

 performance obligation

Fees and commission income are recognized as the related

services are performed.

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets,

other than inventories, contract assets and deferred tax as-

sets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine wh-

ether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such in-

dication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is esti-

mated.  For intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives

or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount

is estimated each year at the same time.  An impairment loss

is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its related

cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recove-

rable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater

of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time

value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot

be tested individually are grouped together into the sma

llest group of assets that generates cash inflows from

continuing use that are largely independent of the cash

inflows of other assets or CGUs.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.  Impa-

irment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated

first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill alloc-

ated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the

carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of

CGUs) on a pro-rata basis.

A contract with a customer that results in a recognized

financial instrument in the Bank’s financial statements

may be partially in the scope of CIFRS 9 and partially in the

scope of CIFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Bank first ap-

plies CIFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the cont-

ract that is in the scope of CIFRS 9 and then applies CIFRS

15 to the residual. The Bank follows a five-step model to

account for revenue arising from contracts with customers

under CIFRS 15.  The five-step model is as follows:

3.16 Impairment of non-financial assets

3.15 Fee and commission 
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Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed

at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has

decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is rever-

sed if there has been a change in the estimates used to de-

termine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is re-

versed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no imp-

airment loss had been recognized.

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It

is recognized in profit or loss except items recognized direc-

tly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

The Bank has determined that interest and penalties related

to income taxes, including uncertain tax treatments, do not

meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore has ac-

counted for them under IAS 37, Provisions,  Contingent Lia-

bilities and Contingent Assets, and has recognized the rel-

ated expenses in ‘other expenses’.

Following the adoption of CIFRSs, the tax authority has not

indicated the changes to tax bases for tax computations for

the tax e�ects of transition to CIFRSs. The Bank has made

assumptions that management assessed to be reasonable

and prudent in its assessment of tax payable and deferred

taxes. The use of di�erent assumptions could lead to a  mate-

rial impact on the financial statement. The final tax liabilities

and deferred taxes of the Bank are subject to the determination

and agreement with the tax authority.

(i) Current tax

 Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or re-

 ceivable on the taxable income for the period using tax

 rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting

 date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

 previous period.

(i) Deferred tax

 Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary

 di�erences between the carrying amounts of assets

 and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the

 amounts used for taxation purposes.

 A deferred tax asset are recognized for unused tax losses

 and deductible temporary di�erences, to the extent that

 it is probable that future taxable profits will be available

 against which they can be used. Deferred tax assets are

 reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the

 extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax

 benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed

 when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

 Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are exp-

 ected to be applied to temporary di�erences when they

 reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted

 at the reporting date.

 The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax

 consequences that would follow the manner in which

 the Bank expects, at the reporting date, to recover or

 settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are o�set only if cer-

 tain criteria are met.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial

statements but are disclosed in the notes unless the poss-

ibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic be-

nefit is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the

financial statements but are disclosed in the notes when

inflows of economic benefits are probable.

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded

o� to the nearest dollar and nearest thousand KHR for

US$ and KHR amounts, respectively.

Several amendments and interpretations apply for the

first time in 2020, but do not have a significant impact on

the financial statements of the Bank:

• Amendments to CIFRS 3, Definition of a Business

• Amendments to CIFRS 7, CIFRS 9 and CIAS 39, Inter-

 est Rate Benchmark Reform

• Amendments to CIAS 1 and CIAS 8, Definition of Material

• Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issu-

 ed on 29 March 2018

• Amendments to CIFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions

3.17 Income tax

3.18 Contingencies 

3.19 Rounding of amounts

3.20 New and emended standards and
   interpretations
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 di�erences between the carrying amounts of assets

 and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the

 amounts used for taxation purposes.

 A deferred tax asset are recognized for unused tax losses

 and deductible temporary di�erences, to the extent that

 it is probable that future taxable profits will be available

 against which they can be used. Deferred tax assets are

 reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the

 extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax

 benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed

 when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

 Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are exp-

 ected to be applied to temporary di�erences when they

 reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted

 at the reporting date.

 The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax

 consequences that would follow the manner in which

 the Bank expects, at the reporting date, to recover or

 settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are o�set only if cer-

 tain criteria are met.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial

statements but are disclosed in the notes unless the poss-

ibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic be-

nefit is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the

financial statements but are disclosed in the notes when

inflows of economic benefits are probable.

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded

o� to the nearest dollar and nearest thousand KHR for

US$ and KHR amounts, respectively.

Several amendments and interpretations apply for the

first time in 2020, but do not have a significant impact on

the financial statements of the Bank:

• Amendments to CIFRS 3, Definition of a Business

• Amendments to CIFRS 7, CIFRS 9 and CIAS 39, Inter-

 est Rate Benchmark Reform

• Amendments to CIAS 1 and CIAS 8, Definition of Material

• Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issu-

 ed on 29 March 2018

• Amendments to CIFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions

3.17 Income tax

3.18 Contingencies 

3.19 Rounding of amounts

3.20 New and emended standards and
   interpretations
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3.21 Standards issued but not yet e�ective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not

yet e�ective, up to the date of issuance of the Bank’s finan-

cial statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to

adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become

e�ective.

E�ective beginning on or a¯er 1 January 2022

• Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Int-

 ended Use - Amendments to CIAS 16

• Onerous Contracts - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract - 

 Amendments to CIAS 37

• CIFRS 9, Financial Instruments - Fees in the ’10 per-

 cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

• CIAS 41, Agriculture - Taxation in fair value measurements

• Reference to the Conceptual Framework - Amendm-

 ents to CIFRS 3

E�ective beginning on or a¯er 1 January 2023

• CIFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

• CIFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial

 Reporting Standards – Subsidiary as a first-time adopter

• Amendments to CIAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as

 Current or Non-current

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance

with CIFRSs requires the Bank to make estimates and ass-

umptions that a�ect the reported amounts of resources,

liabilities, income and expenses and the disclosures of

contingent resources and contingent liabilities. 

Future events may occur which can cause the  assumptions

used in arriving at the estimates to change. The e�ects of

any change in estimates are reflected in the financial stat-

ements as they become reasonably determinable.

The following are the critical judgments and estimates and

key assumptions that have a significant risk of material adj-

ustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year:

a. Classification of financial assets
The Bank classifies its financial assets depending on the

business model for managing those financial assets and

whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are

SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. The Bank perf-

orms the business model assessment based on observable

factors such as:

• Performance of the business model and the financial

 assets held within that business model are evaluated

 and reported to the Bank’s key management personnel

• Risks that a�ect the performance of the business model

 (and the financial assets held within that business model)

 and, in particular, the way those risks are managed

• Compensation of business units whether based on the

 fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual 

 cash flows collected

• Expected frequency, value and timing of sales 

In performing the SPPI test, the Bank applies judgment and

considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the

financial asset is denominated, the period for which the

interest rate is set, contingent events that would change the

amount and timing of cash flows, leverage features, prepa-

yment and extension terms and other features that may

modify the consideration for the time value of money.

b. Fair value of financial instruments 
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

recorded in the statement of financial position or disclosed

in the notes to financial statements cannot be derived from

active markets, these are determined using internal valuation

techniques using generally accepted market valuation models.

The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets

where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of

judgment is required in establishing fair values.

c. Leases
The Bank determines the lease term as the non-cancellable

term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an

option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be

exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate

the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
     ESTIMATES
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The Bank has several lease contracts that include extension

and termination options. The Bank applies judgment in

evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not

to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That

is, it considers all relevant factors such as leasehold impro-

vements and location that create an economic incentive for

it to exercise either the renewal or termination. A¯er the

commencement date, the Bank reassesses the lease term if

there is a significant event or change in circumstances that

is within its control and a�ects its ability to exercise or not  to

exercise the option to renew or to terminate.
f. Functional currency
 CIAS 21 requires management to use its judgment to

 determine the entity’s functional currency such that it

 most faithfully represents the economic e�ects of the

 underlying transactions, events and conditions that are

 relevant to the entity. In making this judgment, the Bank

 considers the following:

 (i) The currency that mainly influences prices for

  financial instruments and services (this will o¯en

  be the currency in which prices for its financial

  instruments and services are denominated and

  settled);

 (ii) The currency in which funds from financing activ-

  ities are generated; and 

 (iii) The currency in which receipts from operating

  activities are usually retained. 

e. Recognition of deferred tax assets
 Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax

 losses and temporary di�erences to the extent that it is

 probable that future taxable profit will be available ag-

 ainst which the losses can be utilized. Significant man-

 agement judgment is required to determine the amount

 of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based

 upon the likely timing and level of future taxable income

 together with future tax planning strategies.

Estimating the IBR for lease liabilities 

The Bank cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit

in the lease, therefore, it uses its IBR to measure lease liabil-

ities. The IBR for lease liabilities is the rate of interest that the

Bank would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and

with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset

of a similar value to the ROU asset in a similar economic

environment. The Bank estimates the IBR for lease liabilities

using observable inputs (by reference to prevailing risk-free

rates) adjusted to take into account the entity’s credit risk

(i.e., credit spread).

d. Expected credit losses on financial assets
The Bank’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models

with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the

choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies.

Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting

judgments and estimates include, among others:

• Segmentation of the portfolio, where the appropriate

 model or ECL approach is used

• Criteria for assessing if there has been a SICR and so

 allowances for debt financial assets should be measured

 on a lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessment

• Segmentation of debt financial assets when their ECL is

 assessed on a collective basis 

• Development of ECL models, including the various

 formulas and the choice of inputs 

• Determination of associations between macroeconomic

 scenarios and economic inputs and the e�ect on PDs,

 EADs and LGDs

• Selection of forward-looking macroeconomics scenarios

 and their probability weightings, to derive the economic

 inputs into the ECL models
4545
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US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

Cash on hand 

Balances with other banks 

Balances with the NBC

Current account

Negotiable certificate of deposits

(NCDs) with original maturity of

three months or less 

Accrued interest receivables

Cash and cash equivalents- gross 

Allowance for ECL

Cash and cash equivalent- net

603,185

5,517,816

64,171

3,054,700

9,239,872

31,108

9,270,980

(221,258)

9,049,722

2,439,883

22,319,566

259,572

12,356,262

37,375,283

125,831

37,501,114

(894,989)

36,606,125

506,440

4,347,292

27,973

-

4,881,705

12,268

4,893,973

(46,779)

4,847,194

2,063,743

17,715,215

113,990

-

19,892,948

49,992

19,942,940

(190,624)

19,752,316

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
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KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

The escrow account of US$12,048,000 represents the amount that the Bank earmarked to settle with DGB (Cambodia)

Property Co., Ltd as the deal to purchase a land disclosed in Note 9, was not successful. The corresponding payable was

recorded under Other liabilities (Note 16).  

The escrow account was subsequently released to DGB (Cambodia) Property Co., Ltd on 28 February 2021.
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Statutory deposits comprise:

Reserve requirements
Under NBC Prakas No. B7-020-230 dated 18 March 2020,

commercial banks are required to maintain certain cash

reserves with the NBC in the form of compulsory 

deposits, computed at 7.00% of customer deposits

and borrowings in KHR and other currencies (2019: 80%

and 12.50% for KHR and US$, respectively).

Interest rates
Annual interest rates on balances with NBC are as follows:

Capital guarantee 

Under NBC Prakas No. B7-01-136 dated 15 October 2001,

banks are required to maintain a capital guarantee of

10.00% of registered capital with the NBC. This deposit

is not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations

but is refundable when the Bank voluntarily ceases to

operate the business in Cambodia.

Reserve requirements

Capital guarantee

2020

Nil

0.06%

2019

Nil

0.48%

US$ US$

2020 2019

Reserve Requirements 

US$

KHR

Capital guarantee

11,650,000

914,710

7,500,000

20,064,710

47,124,250

3,700,002

30,337,500

81,161,752

-

-

3,750,000

3,750,000

-

-

15,281,250

15,281,250

6. STATUTORY DEPOSIT

7. ESCROW ACCOUNT
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KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)
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US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

The Bank’s loans and advances are as follows:

Long-term loans

Short-term loans

Accrued interest receivable

Gross carrying amount

Unamortised processing fees

Carrying amount

Allowance for expected credit losses

Loans and advances - net

At beginning of year 

Charge during the year

(Losses)/gains on foreign exchange

Exchange di�erence on translation

At end of year

459,794

1,639,733

2,225

-

2,101,752

1,873,661

6,685,191

9,071

(66,336)

8,501,587

245,828

214,260

(294)

-

459,794

987,737

868,182

(1,191)

18,933

1,873,661

240,641,678

2,256,771

242,898,449

1,691,423

244,589,872

(934,180)

243,655,692

(2,101,752)

241,553,940

973,395,588

9,128,638

982,524,226

6,841,806

989,366,032

(3,778,758)

985,587,274

(8,501,587)

977,085,687

189,741,657

1,770,112

191,511,769

1,223,069

192,734,838

(991,767)

191,743,071

(459,794)

191,283,277

773,197,252

7,213,206

780,410,458

4,984,006

785,394,464

(4,041,449)

781,353,015

(1,873,661)

779,479,354

8. LOANS AND ADVANCES - NET
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US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)
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(Note 2.3)

2020 2019
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Movements of allowance for losses were as follows:
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6,841,806

989,366,032

(3,778,758)

985,587,274

(8,501,587)

977,085,687

189,741,657
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191,511,769

1,223,069

192,734,838

(991,767)

191,743,071

(459,794)

191,283,277
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8. LOANS AND ADVANCES - NET
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US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

Stage 1
US$

Stage 2
US$

Stage 3
US$

Total
US$

ELC

Grading of the loan portfolio, including interest receivable are as follows:

A reconciliation of changes in allowance for ECLs by stage for loans and advances measured at amortised
cost is as follows:

As at 1 January 2020

Newly originated assets

that remained in Stage 1

Newly originated assets

that moved to Stage 2

and Stage 3

Payments and assets

derecognised

Net remeasurement of

loss allowance

Transfer to stage 1

Transfer to stage 2

Transfer to stage 3

As at 31 December 2020

84,457

 79,490

 -

 (46,780)

 96,153

 11,030

 (2,879)

 -

221,471

208,943

 -

 236,908

 (149,590)

 1,098,071

 (11,013)

 2,879

 (25,397)

1,360,801

459,794

 79,490

 236,908

 (238,215).

 1,563,775

 -

 -

 -

2,101,752

166,394

 -

 -

 (41,845)

 369,551

 (17)

 -

 25,397

519,480

Stage 1 

Stage 2 

Stage 3

216,096,305

27,439,541

1,054,026

244,589,872

874,109,554

110,992,943

4,263,535

989,366,032

164,302,104

28,067,843

364,891

192,734,838

669,531,073

114,376,460

1,486,931

785,394,464
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KHR’000
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(Note 2.3)
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2020 2019
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192,734,838

669,531,073

114,376,460

1,486,931

785,394,464

4949
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Further analyses of loans and advances are as follows:

Stage 1
US$

Stage 2
US$

Stage 3
US$

Total
US$

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

As at 1 January 2019

Newly originated assets

that remained in Stage 1

Newly originated assets

that moved to Stage 2

and Stage 3

Payments and assets

derecognised

Net remeasurement of

loss allowance

Transfer to stage 1

Transfer to stage 2

Transfer to stage 3

As at 31 December 2019

(i) By industry sector

47,025

65,672

-

(16,804)

(4,245)

(7,191)

-

-

84,457

77,641

-

68,542

(30,144)

88,045

7,191

-

(2,332)

208,943

245,827

65,672

68,542

(111,043)

190,796

-

-

-

459,794

121,161

-

-

(64,095)

106,996

-

-

2,332

166,394

 2,150,955

 540,838

 78,246,224

 141,740,410

 15,017,160

 5,202,862

 242,898,449

 8,700,613

 2,187,690

 316,505,976

 573,339,958

 60,744,412

 21,045,577

 982,524,226

914,347

902,630

61,690,702

112,000,861

12,175,348

3,827,881

 191,511,769

3,725,964

3,678,217

251,389,611

456,403,509

49,614,543

15,598,614

 780,410,458

Agriculture

Construction

Services

Trade and commerce 

Transportation 

Others

Total 

ELC

5050
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Further analyses of loans and advances are as follows:

Stage 1
US$

Stage 2
US$

Stage 3
US$

Total
US$

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

As at 1 January 2019

Newly originated assets

that remained in Stage 1

Newly originated assets

that moved to Stage 2

and Stage 3

Payments and assets

derecognised

Net remeasurement of

loss allowance

Transfer to stage 1

Transfer to stage 2

Transfer to stage 3

As at 31 December 2019

(i) By industry sector

47,025

65,672

-

(16,804)

(4,245)

(7,191)

-

-

84,457

77,641

-

68,542

(30,144)

88,045

7,191

-

(2,332)

208,943

245,827

65,672

68,542

(111,043)

190,796

-

-

-

459,794

121,161

-

-

(64,095)

106,996

-

-

2,332

166,394

 2,150,955

 540,838

 78,246,224

 141,740,410

 15,017,160

 5,202,862

 242,898,449

 8,700,613

 2,187,690

 316,505,976

 573,339,958

 60,744,412

 21,045,577

 982,524,226

914,347

902,630

61,690,702

112,000,861

12,175,348

3,827,881

 191,511,769

3,725,964

3,678,217

251,389,611

456,403,509

49,614,543

15,598,614

 780,410,458

Agriculture

Construction

Services

Trade and commerce 

Transportation 

Others

Total 

ELC

5050
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US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

(ii) By currency

(iii) By maturity

(iv) By residency, relationship, exposure and annual interest rates range

US$

KHR

Refer to Note 28 for maturity profile.

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

Residents  242,898,449  982,524,226  191,511,769 780,410,458

Relationship

Sta� loans

External customers

 794,662

 242,103,787

 242,898,449

 3,214,408

 979,309,818

 982,524,226

 482,094

 191,029,675

191,511,769

 1,964,532

 778,445,926

 780,410,458

Exposure

Non-large 242,898,449 982,524,226 191,511,769 780,410,458

 213,996,937

 28,901,512

 242,898,449

 865,617,610

 116,906,616

 982,524,226

179,887,460

11,624,309

191,511,769

733,041,400

47,369,058

780,410,458

Annual interest rates

2020 2019

Short-term loans

Long-term loans

8 % - 18%

8 % - 18%

8% - 18%

8% - 18%

5151
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US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

(ii) By currency

(iii) By maturity

(iv) By residency, relationship, exposure and annual interest rates range

US$

KHR

Refer to Note 28 for maturity profile.

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

Residents  242,898,449  982,524,226  191,511,769 780,410,458

Relationship

Sta� loans

External customers

 794,662

 242,103,787

 242,898,449

 3,214,408

 979,309,818

 982,524,226

 482,094

 191,029,675

191,511,769

 1,964,532

 778,445,926

 780,410,458

Exposure

Non-large 242,898,449 982,524,226 191,511,769 780,410,458

 213,996,937

 28,901,512

 242,898,449

 865,617,610

 116,906,616

 982,524,226

179,887,460

11,624,309

191,511,769

733,041,400

47,369,058

780,410,458

Short-term loans

Long-term loans

8 % - 18%

8 % - 18%

8% - 18%

8% - 18%

5151
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US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

9. OTHER ASSETS

(As reclassified- Note 31)

Advance payment to agent (*)

Advance payments

Prepayment

Golf membership

Other receivables

Allowance for advance

payment to agent (*)

(*) DGB Bank made an advance payment of US$12,048,000 to an agent in connection with a real estate project

in Cambodia, which was suspended indefinitely due to various circumstances. The Bank is currently in the pro-

cess of taking a legal action against the agent with an attempt to recover the advance payment to the extent

possible. Because possible realizations of recovery depend on confirmation of future event, full allowance was

provided.

12,048,000

452,876

 310,378

174,031

234,178

13,219,463

(12,048,000)

1,171,463

48,734,160

1,831,883

 1,255,479

703,955

947,250

53,472,727

(48,734,160)

4,738,567

-

405,285

 113,314

150,182

52,731

721,512

-

721,512

-

1,651,536

 461,755

611,992

214,879

2,940,162

-

2,940,162

5252
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US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019

9. OTHER ASSETS

(As reclassified- Note 31)

Advance payment to agent (*)

Advance payments

Prepayment

Golf membership

Other receivables

Allowance for advance

payment to agent (*)

(*) DGB Bank made an advance payment of US$12,048,000 to an agent in connection with a real estate project

in Cambodia, which was suspended indefinitely due to various circumstances. The Bank is currently in the pro-

cess of taking a legal action against the agent with an attempt to recover the advance payment to the extent

possible. Because possible realizations of recovery depend on confirmation of future event, full allowance was

provided.

12,048,000

452,876

 310,378

174,031

234,178

13,219,463

(12,048,000)

1,171,463

48,734,160

1,831,883

 1,255,479

703,955

947,250

53,472,727

(48,734,160)

4,738,567

-

405,285

 113,314

150,182

52,731

721,512

-

721,512

-

1,651,536

 461,755

611,992

214,879

2,940,162

-

2,940,162

5252
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US$ US$

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture, fixtures
and equipment

10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

US$ US$

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture, fixtures
and equipment

Cost

As at 1 January 2020

Additions

Disposal

As at 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2020

Depreciation 

Disposal

As at 31 December 2020

Net book value 

As at 31 December 2020

KHR’000 equivalent (Note 2.3)

Cost

As at 1 January 2019

Additions

Reclassification

Disposal

As at 31 December 2019

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2019

Depreciation 

Disposal

As at 31 December 2019

Net book value 

As at 31 December 2019

KHR’000 equivalent (Note 2.3)

1,145,457

67,215

248,544

-

1,461,216

590,799

209,728

-

800,527

660,689

2,692,307

398,558

81,705

-

(6,285)

473,978

269,758

58,354

(6,285)

321,827

152,151

620,015

1,461,216

254,911

-

1,716,127

800,527

225,434

-

1,025,961

690,166

2,791,721

473,978

46,667

(1,498)

519,147

321,827

56,071

(1,498)

376,400

142,747

577,412

5454
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US$ US$

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture, fixtures
and equipment

10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

US$ US$

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture, fixtures
and equipment

Cost

As at 1 January 2020

Additions

Disposal

As at 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2020

Depreciation 

Disposal

As at 31 December 2020

Net book value 

As at 31 December 2020

KHR’000 equivalent (Note 2.3)

Cost

As at 1 January 2019

Additions

Reclassification

Disposal

As at 31 December 2019

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2019

Depreciation 

Disposal

As at 31 December 2019

Net book value 

As at 31 December 2019

KHR’000 equivalent (Note 2.3)

1,145,457

67,215

248,544

-

1,461,216

590,799

209,728

-

800,527

660,689

2,692,307

398,558

81,705

-

(6,285)

473,978

269,758

58,354

(6,285)

321,827

152,151

620,015

1,461,216

254,911

-

1,716,127

800,527

225,434

-

1,025,961

690,166

2,791,721

473,978

46,667

(1,498)

519,147

321,827

56,071

(1,498)

376,400

142,747

577,412

5454
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US$ US$ US$ US$

Computer and
IT equipment Motor vehicles Construction

in progress Total

US$ US$ US$ US$

Computer and
IT equipment Motor vehicles Construction

in progress Total

740,124

114,067

-

(3,468)

850,723

639,173

99,267

(2,766)

735,674

115,049

468,825

410,895

183,130

-

(10,800)

583,225

239,293

79,625

(10,800)

308,118

275,107

1,121,061

-

979,885

(248,544)

-

731,341

-

-

-

-

731,341

2,980,215

2,695,034

1,426,002

-

(20,553)

4,100,483

1,739,023

446,974

(19,851)

2,166,146

1,934,337

7,882,423

850,723

163,820

-

1,014,543

735,674

130,896

-

866,570

147,973

598,551

583,225

246,180

(11,800)

817,605

308,118

126,166

(11,800)

422,484

395,121

1,598,264

731,341

263,220

-

994,561

-

-

-

-

994,561

4,022,999

4,100,483

974,798

(13,298)

5,061,983

2,166,146

538,567

(13,298)

2,691,415

2,370,568

9,588,948

5555
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US$ US$ US$ US$

Computer and
IT equipment Motor vehicles Construction

in progress Total

US$ US$ US$ US$

Computer and
IT equipment Motor vehicles Construction

in progress Total

740,124

114,067

-

(3,468)

850,723

639,173

99,267

(2,766)

735,674

115,049

468,825

410,895

183,130

-

(10,800)

583,225

239,293

79,625

(10,800)

308,118

275,107

1,121,061

-

979,885

(248,544)

-

731,341

-

-

-

-

731,341

2,980,215

2,695,034

1,426,002

-

(20,553)

4,100,483

1,739,023

446,974

(19,851)

2,166,146

1,934,337

7,882,423

850,723

163,820

-

1,014,543

735,674

130,896

-

866,570

147,973

598,551

583,225

246,180

(11,800)

817,605

308,118

126,166

(11,800)

422,484

395,121

1,598,264

731,341

263,220

-

994,561

-

-

-

-

994,561

4,022,999

4,100,483

974,798

(13,298)

5,061,983

2,166,146

538,567

(13,298)

2,691,415

2,370,568

9,588,948

5555
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US$ US$US$ US$

Core banking So§ware Total 
Core banking

under
development

US$ US$US$ US$

Core banking So§ware Total 
Core banking

under
development

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost

As at 1 January 2020

Additions

As at 31 December 2020

Accumulated amortization

As at 1 January 2020

Amortisation

As at 31 December 2020

Net book value

31 December 2020

KHR’000 equivalent

(Note 2.3)

253,452

19,924

273,376

225,555

29,836

255,391

17,985

72,749

11,955

-

11,955

11,955

-

11,955

-

-

-

6,662,518

6,662,518

-

-

-

6,662,518

26,949,885

265,407

6,682,442

6,947,849

237,510

29,836

267,346

6,680,503

27,022,635

241,207

12,245

253,452

182,549

43,006

225,555

27,897

113,680

11,955

-

11,955

11,955

-

11,955

-

-

253,162

12,245

265,407

194,504

43,006

237,510

27,897

113,680

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Cost

As at 1 January 2019

Additions

As at 31 December 2019

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 January 2019

Amortisation

As at 31 December 2019

Net book value

31 December 2019

KHR’000 equivalent

(Note 2.3)

5656
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US$ US$US$ US$

Core banking So§ware Total 
Core banking

under
development

US$ US$US$ US$

Core banking So§ware Total 
Core banking

under
development

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost

As at 1 January 2020

Additions

As at 31 December 2020

Accumulated amortization

As at 1 January 2020

Amortisation

As at 31 December 2020

Net book value

31 December 2020

KHR’000 equivalent

(Note 2.3)

253,452

19,924

273,376

225,555

29,836

255,391

17,985

72,749

11,955

-

11,955

11,955

-

11,955

-

-

-

6,662,518

6,662,518

-

-

-

6,662,518

26,949,885

265,407

6,682,442

6,947,849

237,510

29,836

267,346

6,680,503

27,022,635

241,207

12,245

253,452

182,549

43,006

225,555

27,897

113,680

11,955

-

11,955

11,955

-

11,955

-

-

253,162

12,245

265,407

194,504

43,006

237,510

27,897

113,680

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Cost

As at 1 January 2019

Additions

As at 31 December 2019

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 January 2019

Amortisation

As at 31 December 2019

Net book value

31 December 2019

KHR’000 equivalent

(Note 2.3)

5656
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12. LEASES

The Bank as lessee

The Bank has lease contracts for o�ice buildings, apartments and photocopiers. The Bank applies the ‘short-term

lease and lease of low-value assets’ and recognition exemption for the lease of apartments and lease of photo-

copiers, respectively.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

Set out below are movement of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities:

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019
Right-of-use assets

Cost

As at 1 January 

Additions

Exchange di�erence on translation

As at 31 December 

Less: accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 

Charges during the year

Exchange di�erence on translation

As at 31 December 

Carrying amount

2,714,561

669,444

-

3,384,005

839,233

616,023

-

1,455,256

1,928,749

11,061,836

2,707,901

(81,437)

13,688,300

3,419,874

2,511,526

(44,890)

5,886,510

7,801,790

2,063,186

651,375

-

2,714,561

368,661

470,572

-

839,233

1,875,328

8,289,881

2,654,353

117,602

11,061,836

1,481,280

1,906,758

31,836

3,419,874

7,641,962

5757
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12. LEASES

The Bank as lessee

The Bank has lease contracts for o�ice buildings, apartments and photocopiers. The Bank applies the ‘short-term

lease and lease of low-value assets’ and recognition exemption for the lease of apartments and lease of photo-

copiers, respectively.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

Set out below are movement of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities:

US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019
Right-of-use assets

Cost

As at 1 January 

Additions

Exchange di�erence on translation

As at 31 December 

Less: accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 

Charges during the year

Exchange di�erence on translation

As at 31 December 

Carrying amount

2,714,561

669,444

-

3,384,005

839,233

616,023

-

1,455,256

1,928,749

11,061,836

2,707,901

(81,437)

13,688,300

3,419,874

2,511,526

(44,890)

5,886,510

7,801,790

2,063,186

651,375

-

2,714,561

368,661

470,572

-

839,233

1,875,328

8,289,881
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11,061,836

1,481,280

1,906,758

31,836

3,419,874

7,641,962
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US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ KHR’000

equivalent

(Note 2.3)

KHR’000

equivalent

(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019
Lease liabilities

As at 1 January

Additions

Accretion of interest

Payments

Exchange di�erence on translation 

As at 31 December

Current and non-current portion

Current

Non-current

Depreciation of right-of-use

assets (Note 24)

Expense for lease of low-

value assets (Note 24)

Finance cost on lease

liabilities (Note 22)

Total amount recognized
in the statement of
comprehensive income 845,462 3,446,949 721,597 2,923,911

616,023

124,783

104,656

2,511,526

508,740

426,683

470,572

158,655

92,370

1,906,758

642,870

374,283

The amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

1,972,815

669,444

104,656

(685,791)

-

2,061,124

142,719

1,918,405

2,061,124

8,039,221

2,707,901

426,683

(2,795,970)

(40,588)

8,337,247

577,298

7,759,949

8,337,247

1,744,106

651,375

92,370

(515,036)

-

1,972,815

441,164

1,531,651

1,972,815

7,107,232

2,634,812

374,283

 (2,086,926)

        9,820 

8,039,221

1,797,743

6,241,478

8,039,221

5858
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US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ KHR’000

equivalent

(Note 2.3)

KHR’000

equivalent

(Note 2.3)

US$

2020 2019
Lease liabilities

As at 1 January

Additions

Accretion of interest

Payments

Exchange di�erence on translation 

As at 31 December

Current and non-current portion

Current

Non-current

Depreciation of right-of-use

assets (Note 24)

Expense for lease of low-

value assets (Note 24)

Finance cost on lease

liabilities (Note 22)

Total amount recognized
in the statement of
comprehensive income 845,462 3,446,949 721,597 2,923,911

616,023

124,783

104,656

2,511,526

508,740

426,683

470,572

158,655

92,370

1,906,758

642,870

374,283

The amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

1,972,815

669,444

104,656

(685,791)

-

2,061,124

142,719

1,918,405

2,061,124

8,039,221

2,707,901

426,683

(2,795,970)

(40,588)

8,337,247

577,298

7,759,949

8,337,247

1,744,106

651,375

92,370

(515,036)

-

1,972,815

441,164

1,531,651

1,972,815

7,107,232

2,634,812

374,283

 (2,086,926)

        9,820 

8,039,221

1,797,743

6,241,478

8,039,221
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US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

13. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

14. BORROWINGS

Deposits from customers comprise savings accounts amounting US$750,002 (KHR’000 3,003,758) with interest rate

at 3% per annum (2019: nil).

Borrowings comprise:

Borrowing from NBC  

Borrowing from other banks 

Borrowing from shareholder

Accrued interest payable

Carrying amount

As at 1 January

Addition for the year 

Repayment of principal for the year

Interest expense for the year

Interest payment for the year 

Currency translation di�erence

As at 31 December 

95,157,313

80,967,386

(13,151)

6,659,456

(6,452,098)

-

176,318,906

387,766,050

330,104,033

(53,617)

27,150,602

(26,305,204)

(5,451,889)

713,209,975

44,059,782

51,000,000

-

3,181,484

(3,083,953)

-

95,157,313

177,032,204

206,652,000

-

12,891,373

(12,496,178)

3,686,651

387,766,050

The movements of borrowings are as follows:

2,966,625

12,987,610

160,000,000

175,954,235

364,671

176,318,906

11,999,998

52,534,882

647,200,000

711,734,880

1,475,095

713,209,975

-

-

95,000,000

95,000,000

157,313

95,157,313

-

-

387,125,000

387,125,000

641,050

387,766,050
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US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

13. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

14. BORROWINGS

Deposits from customers comprise savings accounts amounting US$750,002 (KHR’000 3,003,758) with interest rate

at 3% per annum (2019: nil).

Borrowings comprise:

Borrowing from NBC  

Borrowing from other banks 

Borrowing from shareholder

Accrued interest payable

Carrying amount

As at 1 January

Addition for the year 

Repayment of principal for the year

Interest expense for the year

Interest payment for the year 

Currency translation di�erence

As at 31 December 

95,157,313

80,967,386

(13,151)

6,659,456

(6,452,098)

-

176,318,906

387,766,050

330,104,033

(53,617)

27,150,602

(26,305,204)

(5,451,889)

713,209,975

44,059,782

51,000,000

-

3,181,484

(3,083,953)

-

95,157,313

177,032,204

206,652,000

-

12,891,373

(12,496,178)

3,686,651

387,766,050

The movements of borrowings are as follows:

2,966,625

12,987,610

160,000,000

175,954,235

364,671

176,318,906

11,999,998

52,534,882

647,200,000

711,734,880

1,475,095

713,209,975

-

-

95,000,000

95,000,000

157,313

95,157,313

-

-

387,125,000

387,125,000

641,050

387,766,050

5959
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Further analyses of borrowings are as follows:

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

15. INCOME TAX

(i) By currency and interest rate range

(ii) By maturity

Refer to Note 28 for maturity profile

Major components of income tax (benefit) expense are as follows:

Interest rate per annum during the year:

US$

KHR

Borrowing in US$

Borrowing in KHR

2% - 7.8%

2% - 8%

4.4% - 4.8%

Nil

 

160,307,663 

 16,011,243 

 176,318,906 

 

 648,444,497 

 64,765,478 

 713,209,975 

 

  95,157,313 

 - 

 95,157,313 

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

387,766,050 

 - 

 387,766,050 

2,698,708

(2,724,429)

(25,721)

11,002,633

(11,107,498)

(104,865)

2,614,443

(321,573)

2,292,870

10,593,723

(1,303,014)

9,290,709

Current income tax

Deferred tax
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Further analyses of borrowings are as follows:

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

15. INCOME TAX

(i) By currency and interest rate range

(ii) By maturity

Refer to Note 28 for maturity profile

Major components of income tax (benefit) expense are as follows:

Interest rate per annum during the year:

US$

KHR

Borrowing in US$

Borrowing in KHR

2% - 7.8%

2% - 8%

4.4% - 4.8%

Nil

 

160,307,663 

 16,011,243 

 176,318,906 

 

 648,444,497 

 64,765,478 

 713,209,975 

 

  95,157,313 

 - 

 95,157,313 

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

387,766,050 

 - 

 387,766,050 

2,698,708

(2,724,429)

(25,721)

11,002,633

(11,107,498)

(104,865)

2,614,443

(321,573)

2,292,870

10,593,723

(1,303,014)

9,290,709

Current income tax

Deferred tax

6060
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Details of estimated current income tax expense are as follows:

15.1 Current income tax

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

before income tax

Income tax expense at

applicable tax rate of 20%

Non-deductible expenses 

Deferred tax not recognized

in previous years

E�ective income tax

Accounting (loss) profit

(benefit) expense (25,721) (104,865) 2,292,870 9,290,709

(702,555)

(140,511)

114,790

-

As at 1 January

Current income tax

Payments during the year

Exchange di�erence on translation

As at 31 December

2,331,253

2,698,708

(2,616,584)

-

2,413,377

9,499,856

11,002,633

(10,667,813)

(72,566)

9,762,110

1,546,691

2,614,443

(1,829,881)

-

2,331,253

6,214,604

10,593,723

(7,414,678)

106,207

9,499,856

In accordance with the Cambodian tax regulations, current income tax is calculated at the higher of the taxable

income for the year multiplied by the tax rate of 20% at the reporting date and 1% of turnover.

Details of movements of income tax payable are as follows:

(2,864,315)

(572,863)

467,999

-

12,442,263

2,488,453

2,597

(198,180)

50,416,050

10,083,212

10,523

(803,026)

6161
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Details of estimated current income tax expense are as follows:

15.1 Current income tax

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

before income tax

Income tax expense at

applicable tax rate of 20%

Non-deductible expenses 

Deferred tax not recognized

in previous years

E�ective income tax

Accounting (loss) profit

(benefit) expense (25,721) (104,865) 2,292,870 9,290,709

(702,555)

(140,511)

114,790

-

As at 1 January

Current income tax

Payments during the year

Exchange di�erence on translation

As at 31 December

2,331,253

2,698,708

(2,616,584)

-

2,413,377

9,499,856

11,002,633

(10,667,813)

(72,566)

9,762,110

1,546,691

2,614,443

(1,829,881)

-

2,331,253

6,214,604

10,593,723

(7,414,678)

106,207

9,499,856

In accordance with the Cambodian tax regulations, current income tax is calculated at the higher of the taxable

income for the year multiplied by the tax rate of 20% at the reporting date and 1% of turnover.

Details of movements of income tax payable are as follows:

(2,864,315)

(572,863)

467,999

-

12,442,263

2,488,453

2,597

(198,180)

50,416,050

10,083,212

10,523

(803,026)

6161
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15.2 Deferred tax assets (liability) – net

16. OTHER LIABILITIES

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

Temporary di�erences recognized during the year giving rise to deferred tax assets are as follows:

Allowance for loss on advance

payment to agent

Lease liabilities

Allowance for expected credit losses

Unamortised loan fees

Provision for seniority indemnity

Tax depreciation

Right-of-use assets

Other 

2,409,600

412,225

344,952

186,836

63,571

32,107

(385,749)

(17,540)

3,046,002

9,746,832

1,667,450

1,395,331

755,752

257,145

129,872

(1,560,355)

(70,949)

12,321,078

-

-

293,143

13,635

66,000

(51,205)

-

-

321,573

-

-

1,194,558

55,562

268,950

(208,660)

-

-

1,310,410

Account payable (Note 7)

Salary and withholding tax payables 

Accrued expenses

Accrued professional fees

Others

12,048,000

117,545

89,346

19,800

1,617

12,276,308

48,734,160

475,470

361,404

80,090

6,540

49,657,664

-

98,677

35,740

40,700

141,702

316,819

-

402,109

145,641

165,853

577,436

1,291,039

6262
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15.2 Deferred tax assets (liability) – net

16. OTHER LIABILITIES

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

Temporary di�erences recognized during the year giving rise to deferred tax assets are as follows:

Allowance for loss on advance

payment to agent

Lease liabilities

Allowance for expected credit losses

Unamortised loan fees

Provision for seniority indemnity

Tax depreciation

Right-of-use assets

Other 

2,409,600

412,225

344,952

186,836

63,571

32,107

(385,749)

(17,540)

3,046,002

9,746,832

1,667,450

1,395,331

755,752

257,145

129,872

(1,560,355)

(70,949)

12,321,078

-

-

293,143

13,635

66,000

(51,205)

-

-

321,573

-

-

1,194,558

55,562

268,950

(208,660)

-

-

1,310,410

Account payable (Note 7)

Salary and withholding tax payables 

Accrued expenses

Accrued professional fees

Others

12,048,000

117,545

89,346

19,800

1,617

12,276,308

48,734,160

475,470

361,404

80,090

6,540

49,657,664

-

98,677

35,740

40,700

141,702

316,819

-

402,109

145,641

165,853

577,436

1,291,039

6262
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17. PROVISION OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

18. SHARE CAPITAL

19. GENERAL RESERVES

20.REGULATORY RESERVE

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

US$ US$

20192020

Movements of this provision are as follows:

As at 1 January

Reversal of provision during the year

Exchange di�erence on translation

As at 31 December

The Bank transferred its retained earnings amounting to US$3,000,000 (KHR 12 billion) to reserves which was

approved by the NBC on 27 July 2016.

Registered, issued and fully paid
ordinary shares of US$1 each 75,000,000 300,000,000 75,000,000 300,000,000

330,000

(12,144)

           -

317,856

1,344,750

(49,511)

(9,511)

1,285,728

330,000

-

-

330,000

1,325,940

-

18,810

1,344,750

Regulatory provision

Provision for ECLs under CIFRS 9

Regulatory reserve requirement

KHR’000 equivalent (Note 2.3)

3,297,405

2,101,752

1,195,653

4,813,706

2,218,875

459,793

1,759,082

7,110,806

6363
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17. PROVISION OF EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

18. SHARE CAPITAL

19. GENERAL RESERVES

20.REGULATORY RESERVE

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

US$ US$

20192020

Movements of this provision are as follows:

As at 1 January

Reversal of provision during the year

Exchange di�erence on translation

As at 31 December

The Bank transferred its retained earnings amounting to US$3,000,000 (KHR 12 billion) to reserves which was

approved by the NBC on 27 July 2016.

Registered, issued and fully paid
ordinary shares of US$1 each 75,000,000 300,000,000 75,000,000 300,000,000

330,000

(12,144)

           -

317,856

1,344,750

(49,511)

(9,511)

1,285,728

330,000

-

-

330,000

1,325,940

-

18,810

1,344,750

Regulatory provision

Provision for ECLs under CIFRS 9

Regulatory reserve requirement

KHR’000 equivalent (Note 2.3)

3,297,405

2,101,752

1,195,653

4,813,706

2,218,875

459,793

1,759,082

7,110,806

6363
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21. INTEREST INCOME

22. INTEREST EXPENSE

23. NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

Loans and advances

Balances with the NBC

Balances with other banks

29,499,810

129,479

34,266

29,663,555

120,270,725

527,886

139,703

120,938,314

22,941,500

23,597

236,374

23,201,471

92,958,958

95,615

957,787

94,012,360

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Deposits from customers

6,659,456

104,656

907

6,765,019

27,150,602

426,682

3,698

27,580,982

3,181,484

92,370

-

3,273,854

12,891,373

374,283

-

13,265,656

836,801

-

836,801

(18,536)

818,265

3,411,638

-

3,411,638

(75,571)

3,336,067

827,007

800

827,807

(11,543)

816,264

3,351,033

3,241

3,354,274

(46,772)

3,307,502

Fees and commission income

Penalty fee

Loan recoveries

Fees and commission expense

Net fees and commission income

6464
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21. INTEREST INCOME

22. INTEREST EXPENSE

23. NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

Loans and advances

Balances with the NBC

Balances with other banks

29,499,810

129,479

34,266

29,663,555

120,270,725

527,886

139,703

120,938,314

22,941,500

23,597

236,374

23,201,471

92,958,958

95,615

957,787

94,012,360

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Deposits from customers

6,659,456

104,656

907

6,765,019

27,150,602

426,682

3,698

27,580,982

3,181,484

92,370

-

3,273,854

12,891,373

374,283

-

13,265,656

836,801

-

836,801

(18,536)

818,265

3,411,638

-

3,411,638

(75,571)

3,336,067

827,007

800

827,807

(11,543)

816,264

3,351,033

3,241

3,354,274

(46,772)

3,307,502

Fees and commission income

Penalty fee

Loan recoveries

Fees and commission expense

Net fees and commission income

6464
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24. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

Amortisation of golf membership included in others amounted to US$3,051 or KHR’000 12,439 (2019: US$2,638

or KHR’000 10,689).

6,632,872

568,403 

616,023

895,437

333,767

192,708

182,330

179,122

174,245

168,127

124,783

121,727

113,200

83,342

65,671

28,263

22,618

129,547

10,632,185

27,042,219

             

2,317,379 

2,511,526

3,650,697

1,360,768

785,671

743,359

730,280

710,397

685,454

508,740

496,281

461,516

339,785

267,741

115,228

92,214

528,163

43,347,418

5,024,315

                

489,979 

470,572

539,674

298,933

101,963

158,280

151,035

144,351

138,036

158,655

121,281

6,456

66,304

53,468

53,554

20,013

92,596

8,089,465

20,358,524

             

1,985,395 

1,906,758

2,186,759

1,211,277

413,154

641,351

611,994

584,910

559,322

642,870

491,431

26,160

268,664

216,652

217,001

81,093

375,197

32,778,512

Personnel 

Depreciation and amortisation

(Notes 10, 11)

Depreciation of right-of-use

assets (Note 12)

Professional fee

Advertising expense

O�ice supplies

Fuel expense

Repair and maintenance

Utilities

Communication

Lease of low-value assets 

(Note 12)

Business meal and entertainment

Donation

Security

Insurance expense

Board of Directors’ expense

Other taxes

Others
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24. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

Amortisation of golf membership included in others amounted to US$3,051 or KHR’000 12,439 (2019: US$2,638

or KHR’000 10,689).

6,632,872

568,403 

616,023

895,437

333,767

192,708

182,330

179,122

174,245

168,127

124,783

121,727

113,200

83,342

65,671

28,263

22,618

129,547

10,632,185

27,042,219

             

2,317,379 

2,511,526

3,650,697

1,360,768

785,671

743,359

730,280

710,397

685,454

508,740

496,281

461,516

339,785

267,741

115,228

92,214

528,163

43,347,418

5,024,315

                

489,979 

470,572

539,674

298,933

101,963

158,280

151,035

144,351

138,036

158,655

121,281

6,456

66,304

53,468

53,554

20,013

92,596

8,089,465

20,358,524

             

1,985,395 

1,906,758

2,186,759

1,211,277

413,154

641,351

611,994

584,910

559,322

642,870

491,431

26,160

268,664

216,652

217,001

81,093

375,197

32,778,512

Personnel 

Depreciation and amortisation

(Notes 10, 11)

Depreciation of right-of-use

assets (Note 12)

Professional fee

Advertising expense

O�ice supplies

Fuel expense

Repair and maintenance

Utilities

Communication

Lease of low-value assets 

(Note 12)

Business meal and entertainment

Donation

Security

Insurance expense

Board of Directors’ expense

Other taxes

Others
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25. PROVISIONS FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

Loans and advances (Note 8)

Balance with other banks

Balance with NBC

Provision for expected credit 
losses - net 1,814,014 7,395,735 259,832 1,052,839

(a)  Legal claims

 During the year, the Bank pursued legal claims against an agent (Note 9) and borrowers in default. Ma-

 jority of these claims are still being negotiated and/or disputed by borrowers, thus, neither the ultimate

 outcome of these claims, nor the amounts recoverable can be determined at this time.

(b) Tax contingency 

 The taxation system in Cambodia has undergone numerous changes and is characterized by either o¯en

 unclear, contradictory and/or di�ering interpretations existing among numerous taxation authorities

 and jurisdictions. Taxes are subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities, who are

 enabled by law to impose severe fines, penalties and interest charges. These facts may create tax risks

 in Cambodia substantially more significant than in other countries. 

Management believes that it has adequately provided for tax liabilities based on its interpretation of tax

legislation. However, the relevant authorities may have di�ering interpretations and the e�ects since the

incorporation of the Bank and its subsidiaries could be significant.
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25. PROVISIONS FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

Loans and advances (Note 8)

Balance with other banks

Balance with NBC

Provision for expected credit 
losses - net 1,814,014 7,395,735 259,832 1,052,839

(a)  Legal claims

 During the year, the Bank pursued legal claims against an agent (Note 9) and borrowers in default. Ma-

 jority of these claims are still being negotiated and/or disputed by borrowers, thus, neither the ultimate

 outcome of these claims, nor the amounts recoverable can be determined at this time.

(b) Tax contingency 
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 and jurisdictions. Taxes are subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities, who are

 enabled by law to impose severe fines, penalties and interest charges. These facts may create tax risks

 in Cambodia substantially more significant than in other countries. 

Management believes that it has adequately provided for tax liabilities based on its interpretation of tax

legislation. However, the relevant authorities may have di�ering interpretations and the e�ects since the

incorporation of the Bank and its subsidiaries could be significant.
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27. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

27.1 Outstanding balances with related parties

27.2 Significant transactions with related parties

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

65,000,000

6,118,190

4,313,391

525,783

28,263

265,005,000

24,943,861

17,585,695

2,143,617

115,228

51,000,000

3,181,484

3,083,953

354,097

53,554

206,652,000

12,891,373

12,496,178

1,446,957

217,001

2020 2019

Daegu Bank

 Borrowing 

 Accrued interest payable 

DGB (Cambodia) Property Co., Ltd

Daegu Bank 

Proceed from borrowing 

Interest expense

Interest paid

Key management personnel 

Board of Directors’ expense

160,000,000

274,182

647,200,000

1,109,066

95,000,000

157,313

387,125,000

641,050

- -12,048,000 49,543,160

 Escrow account and account

 payable in the statement of

 financial position

6767
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28. MATURITY PROFILE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Within one year
US$

Beyond one year
US$

 2020

The following table shows an analysis of assets and liabilities as to whether they are expected to be
recovered or settled within one year or beyond one year from the statement of financial position date:

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent

Escrow account

Loans and advances to

customers – gross

Other assets

Non-financial assets

Statutory deposit

Property and equipment

Right-of-use assets

So¯ware

Deferred tax assets

Other assets

Allowance for ECLs

Accumulated depreciations and

amortisation of non-financial assets

Total assets 

KHR’000 equivalent (Note 2.3)

9,270,980

12,248,000

6,943,219

687,054

29,149,253

-

-

-

-

996,402

484,409

1,480,811

(463,141)

-

30,166,923

122,025,204

-

-

236,712,473

- 

236,712,473

20,064,710

5,061,983

3,384,005

6,947,849

2,049,600

- 

37,508,147

(1,859,869)

(4,414,017)

267,946,734

1,083,844,538

6868
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Within one year
US$

Beyond one year
US$

Total
US$

Total
US$

 2019

9,270,980

12,248,000

243,655,692

687,054

265,861,726

20,064,710

5,061,983

3,384,005

6,947,849

3,046,002

484,409

38,988,958

(2,323,010)

(4,414,017)

298,113,657

1,205,869,742

4,893,973

-

5,633,852

458,016

10,985,841

-

-

-

-

321,573

263,496

585,069

(506,573)

-

11,064,337

44,755,243

-

-

186,109,219

- 

186,109,219

3,750,000

4,100,483

2,714,561

265,407

-

-

10,830,451

- 

(3,242,889)

193,696,781

783,503,479

4,893,973

-

191,743,071

458,016

197,095,060

3,750,000

4,100,483

2,714,561

265,407

321,573

263,496

11,415,520

(506,573)

(3,242,889)

204,761,118

828,258,722

6969
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243,655,692

687,054

265,861,726

20,064,710
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Within one year

US$

Beyond one year

US$

 2020

750,002

163,355,782

164,105,784

12,276,308

-

2,413,377

-

14,689,685

      178,795,469

      723,227,672

-

12,963,124

12,963,124

-

2,061,124

-

317,856

2,378,980

        15,342,104

        62,058,810

Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers

Borrowings

Non-financial liabilities

Other liabilities

Lease liabilities

Current income tax liability

Provision for employee benefits

Total liabilities

KHR’000 equivalent (Note 2.3)

7070

DGB Bank / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Within one year

US$

Beyond one year

US$
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Within one year

US$

Beyond one year

US$

Total

US$

Total

US$

 2019

750,002

176,318,906

177,068,908

12,276,308

2,061,124

2,413,377

317,856

17,068,665

      194,137,573

      785,286,482

-

157,313

157,313

316,819

-

2,331,253

-

2,648,072

2,805,385

11,431,944

-

95,000,000

95,000,000

-

1,972,815

-

330,000

2,302,815

97,302,815

396,508,971

-

95,157,313

95,157,313

316,819

1,972,815

2,331,253

330,000

4,950,887

100,108,200

407,940,916

7171
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US$
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US$

Total
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

2020 2019

The Bank has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments: 

• Operational risk 

• Credit risk;

• Market risk;

• Liquidity risk; and

The Bank does not use derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange contract and interest rate

swaps to manage its risk exposure.

A primary objective of the Bank in risk management is to comply with NBC’s regulations. On the other hand,

the Bank has recognised the importance of achieving international best practices on risk management.

The Bank has established a Risk and Compliance Management Meeting to formulate broad parameters

of acceptable risk for the Bank and monitor the activities against these parameters.

The details of financial assets and liabilities are as follows:

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks and the Bank’s objectives,

policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Bank’s management of capital.

Risk management functional and governance structure

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk (including currency risk,

interest rate risk and price risk), and liquidity risk. Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the

operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent

Escrow account 

Loans and advances

Other assets 

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers

Borrowings 

Total financial liabilities

Net financial assets

9,270,980 

12,248,000

243,655,692

657,187 

265,831,859

750,002

176,318,906

177,068,908

88,762,951

37,501,114

49,543,160

985,587,274

2,658,321

1,075,289,869

3,033,758

713,209,975

716,243,733

359,046,136

4,893,973

-

191,743,071

458,016

197,095,060 

-

95,157,313

95,157,313

101,937,747

19,942,940

-

781,353,014

1,866,415

803,162,369

-

387,766,050

387,766,050

415,396,319

7272
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29.1 Operational risk

29.2 Credit risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss

arising from inadequate or failed internal processes,

personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from

external factors other than credit, market and liquidity

risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory

requirements and generally accepted standards of

corporate behavior.

The operational risk loss is managed through esta-

blished operational risk management processes,

proper monitoring and reporting of the business

activities by control and support units which are

independent of the business units and oversight

provided by the senior management of the Bank.

The Bank’s operational risk management entails the

establishment of clear organizational structures,

roles and control policies. Various internal control

policies and measures have been implemented

including the establishment of signing authorities,

defining system parameters controls, streamlining

procedures and documentation and compliance

with regulatory and other legal requirements. These

are continually reviewed to address the operational

risks of the business unit as well as to assess the

level of compliance with the Bank policies by a

program of periodic reviews undertaken by the

internal audit function. The results of internal audit

reviews are discussed with the management of the

business unit to which they relate, with summaries

submitted to the Audit Committee and senior ma-

nagement of the Bank.

The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the

risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss to

the Bank by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit

risk is the most important risk for the Bank’s business.

Credit exposure arises principally in lending activities

that lead to loans and advances. There is also credit

risk in o�-balance sheet financial instruments, such

as loan commitments. The lending activities are gu-

ided by the Bank’s credit policy to ensure that the-

overall objectives in the area of lending are achieved;

i.e., that the loan portfolio is strong and credit risks

are well diversified. The credit policy documents the

lending policy, collateral policy and credit approval

processes, including the Bank’s own internal grading

system, and procedures implemented to ensure

compliance with the NBC’s guidelines.

(b) Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Bank operates and provides loans and advances

to individuals or enterprises within the Kingdom of

Cambodia. The Bank manages, limits and controls the

concentration of credit risk whenever it is identified.

Large exposure is defined by the NBC as overall credit

exposure to any individual beneficiary which exceeds

10% of the Bank’s net worth.

(a) Credit risk measurement

The Bank assesses the probability of default of indiv-

idual counterparties using internal rating tool. Local

credit committee is responsible for determining the

risk rating policies.

Risk ratings are reviewed and updated regularly, and

in events of (i) change of loan terms and conditions

including extension; (ii) repayment irregularities or

delinquencies and (iii) adverse information relating to

the borrower or transaction.

The Bank is required, under the conditions of NBC

Prakas No. B7-06-226, to maintain at all times a max-

imum ratio of 20% between the Bank’s overall credit

exposure to any single beneficiary and the Bank’s net

worth. The aggregate of large credit exposure must not

exceed 300% of the Bank’s net worth.

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices

to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these

is the taking of security in the form of collateral for

loans and advances to customers, which is common

practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the

acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit

risk mitigation. The principal collateral types to secure

for loans and advances to customers are:
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• Mortgages over residential properties (land, bui-

 lding and other properties);

• Charges over business assets such as land and

 buildings; and

• Cash in the form of margin deposits.

(c) Management of credit risk

• Developing and maintaining the Bank’s processes

 for measuring ECL: This includes processes for: 

- initial approval, regular validation and back-testing

 of the models used; 

- determining and monitoring significant increase

 in credit risk; and 

- incorporation of forward-looking information.

• Reviewing compliance of business units with agreed

 exposure limits, including those for selected

 industries, country risk and product types. Regular

 reports on the credit quality of local portfolios are

 provided to Bank Credit, which may require

 appropriate corrective action to be taken. These

 include reports containing estimates of ECL

 allowances.

• Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to

 business units to promote best practice throughout

 the Bank in the management of credit risk.

 The Bank employs a range of policies and practices

 to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these

 is the taking of security in the form of collateral for

(d)  Concentration of risk

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties

are engaged in similar business activities, or activities

in the same geographic region, or have similar economic

features that would cause their ability to meet cont-

ractual obligations to be similarly a�ected by changes

in economic, political or other conditions. Concent-

rations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s

performance to developments a�ecting a particular

industry or geographic location.

The Bank monitors concentration of credit risk of

counterparty by industry.

Details of maximum exposure to credit risk before

collateral held or other credit enhancements are

as follows:

(e) Maximum exposure to credit risk before coll-

 ateral held or other credit enhancements

 loans and advances to customers, which is common

 practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the

 acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit

 risk mitigation. The principal collateral types to

 secure for loans and advances to customers are:

     •    Mortgages over residential properties (land, bui-

 lding and other properties);

     •    Charges over business assets such as land and

 buildings; and

     •    Cash in the form of margin deposits.

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

Cash and cash equivalent

excluding cash on hand

Loans and advances

8,446,537

241,553,940 

250,000,477

34,166,242

977,085,687

1,011,251,929

4,340,754

191,283,277

195,624,031

17,688,573

779,479,354

797,167,927

2020 2019
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• Mortgages over residential properties (land, bui-

 lding and other properties);

• Charges over business assets such as land and

 buildings; and

• Cash in the form of margin deposits.

(c) Management of credit risk

• Developing and maintaining the Bank’s processes

 for measuring ECL: This includes processes for: 

- initial approval, regular validation and back-testing

 of the models used; 

- determining and monitoring significant increase

 in credit risk; and 

- incorporation of forward-looking information.

• Reviewing compliance of business units with agreed

 exposure limits, including those for selected

 industries, country risk and product types. Regular

 reports on the credit quality of local portfolios are

 provided to Bank Credit, which may require

 appropriate corrective action to be taken. These

 include reports containing estimates of ECL

 allowances.

• Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to

 business units to promote best practice throughout

 the Bank in the management of credit risk.

 The Bank employs a range of policies and practices

 to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these

 is the taking of security in the form of collateral for

(d)  Concentration of risk

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties

are engaged in similar business activities, or activities

in the same geographic region, or have similar economic

features that would cause their ability to meet cont-

ractual obligations to be similarly a�ected by changes

in economic, political or other conditions. Concent-

rations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s

performance to developments a�ecting a particular

industry or geographic location.

The Bank monitors concentration of credit risk of

counterparty by industry.

Details of maximum exposure to credit risk before

collateral held or other credit enhancements are

as follows:

(e) Maximum exposure to credit risk before coll-

 ateral held or other credit enhancements

 loans and advances to customers, which is common

 practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the

 acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit

 risk mitigation. The principal collateral types to

 secure for loans and advances to customers are:

     •    Mortgages over residential properties (land, bui-

 lding and other properties);

     •    Charges over business assets such as land and

 buildings; and

     •    Cash in the form of margin deposits.

US$ US$ KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

KHR’000
equivalent
(Note 2.3)

Cash and cash equivalent

excluding cash on hand

Loans and advances

8,446,537

241,553,940 

250,000,477

34,166,242

977,085,687

1,011,251,929

4,340,754

191,283,277

195,624,031

17,688,573

779,479,354

797,167,927

2020 2019
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Cash and cash
equivalent 

US$

Other assets

US$

Total

US$

Loans and
advances

US$

(f) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

2020

Cash and cash
equivalent 

US$

Other assets

US$

Total

US$

Loans and
advances

US$

2019

Financial

intermediaries

Agriculture

Construction

Services

Trade and commerce

Transportation

Others

Allowance for ECLs

Unamortised processing fees

KHR'000 equivalent

(Note 2.3)

8,636,687

-

-

-

-

-

603,185

9,239,872

-

(221,258)

-

9,018,614

36,480,294

-

2,150,955

540,838

78,246,224

141,740,410

15,017,160

5,202,862

242,898,449

1,691,423

(2,101,752)

(934,180)

241,553,940

977,085,687

-

-

-

-

-

-

657,187

657,187

-

-

-

657,187

2,658,321

8,636,687

2,150,955

540,838

78,246,224

141,740,410

15,017,160

6,463,234

252,795,508

1,691,423

(2,323,010)

(934,180)

 251,229,741

 

1,016,224,302

Financial

intermediaries

Agriculture 

Construction 

Services

Trade and commerce 

Transportation 

Others 

Allowance for ECLs

Unamortised processing fees

KHR'000 equivalent 

(Note 2.3)

4,340,754

-

-

-

-

-

506,440

4,847,194

(46,779)

-

4,800,415

19,561,691

-

914,347

902,630

61,690,702

112,000,861

12,175,348

3,827,881

191,511,769

(459,794)

(991,767)

190,060,208

774,495,348

-

-

-

-

-

-

458,016

458,016

-

-

458,016

1,866,415

8,090,754

914,347

902,630

61,690,702

112,000,861

12,175,348

4,792,337

200,566,979

(506,573)

(991,767)

199,068,639

811,204,704
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Cash and cash
equivalent 

US$

Other assets

US$

Total

US$

Loans and
advances

US$

(f) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

2020

Cash and cash
equivalent 

US$

Other assets

US$

Total

US$

Loans and
advances

US$

2019

Financial

intermediaries
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Unamortised processing fees

KHR'000 equivalent 
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-

-

-

-

-
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-
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-

914,347
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61,690,702

112,000,861

12,175,348

3,827,881

191,511,769

(459,794)

(991,767)

190,060,208

774,495,348

-

-

-

-

-

-

458,016

458,016

-

-

458,016

1,866,415

8,090,754

914,347
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(f) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)

Stage 1
US$

Stage 2
US$

Stage 3
US$

Cash and cash equivalent

excluding cash on hand

Loans and advances

Unamortised processing fees

Allowance for ECLs

KHR'000 equivalent

(Note 2.3)

9,270,980

216,096,305 

(934,180)

224,433,105 

(442,729)

223,990,376 

906,041,071

-

27,439,541

- 

27,439,541

(1,360,801)

26,078,740

105,488,503

-

1,054,026

-

1,054,026

(519,480)

534,546

2,162,239

9,270,980

244,589,872

(934,180)

252,926,672

(2,323,010)

250,603,662

1,013,691,813

Total
US$

2020

Cash and cash equivalent

Loans and advances

Unamortised processing fees

Allowance for ECLs

KHR'000 equivalent 

(Note 2.3)

4,893,973

164,302,104 

(991,767)

168,204,310 

(131,236)

168,073,074 

679,855,584

-

28,067,843

-

28,067,843

(208,943)

27,858,900

112,689,251

-

364,891

-

364,891

(166,394)

198,497

802,920

4,893,973

192,734,838

(991,767)

196,637,044

(506,573)

196,130,471

793,347,755

Stage 1
US$

Stage 2
US$

Stage 3
US$

Total
US$

2019

7676
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(f) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)

Stage 1
US$

Stage 2
US$

Stage 3
US$

Cash and cash equivalent

excluding cash on hand

Loans and advances

Unamortised processing fees

Allowance for ECLs

KHR'000 equivalent

(Note 2.3)

9,270,980

216,096,305 

(934,180)

224,433,105 

(442,729)

223,990,376 

906,041,071

-

27,439,541

- 

27,439,541

(1,360,801)

26,078,740

105,488,503

-

1,054,026

-

1,054,026

(519,480)

534,546

2,162,239

9,270,980

244,589,872

(934,180)

252,926,672

(2,323,010)

250,603,662

1,013,691,813

Total
US$

2020

Cash and cash equivalent

Loans and advances

Unamortised processing fees

Allowance for ECLs

KHR'000 equivalent 

(Note 2.3)

4,893,973

164,302,104 

(991,767)

168,204,310 

(131,236)

168,073,074 

679,855,584

-

28,067,843

-

28,067,843

(208,943)

27,858,900

112,689,251

-

364,891

-

364,891

(166,394)

198,497

802,920

4,893,973

192,734,838

(991,767)

196,637,044

(506,573)

196,130,471

793,347,755

Stage 1
US$

Stage 2
US$

Stage 3
US$

Total
US$

2019

7676
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The Bank applies a three-stage approach based on

the change in credit quality since initial recognition.

The definition of default used for these purposes

shall be applied consistently to all financial assets

unless information becomes available that demon-

strates that another default definition is more app-

ropriate for a particular financial instrument.

Based on the Bank’s definition of default, an acc-

ount classified as default will be automatically

tagged as “Yes” in the “Impairment Indicator" field

when the “Default-Reason” field shows one of the

four default reasons below:

(a) Normal Turn: The account’s delinquency

 exceeds 90 DPD and is applicable to all prod-

 ucts except trade finance product which has

 a definition of default of 31 DPD due to the

 short-term nature of the product. 

(b) R&R: When the account undergoes debt rest-

 ructuring or rescheduling;

(c) Forced: When account shows deterioration in

 its credit profile, but its delinquency does not

 exceed 90 DPD; and

(d) Related: Refers to cross default by obligor(s)

 of the same borrower type within the same

 loan listing source.

(iv) Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Bank incorporates forward-looking informa-

tion into both the assessment of whether the credit

risk of an instrument has increased significantly

since its initial recognition and the measurement

of ECL.

External information considered includes economic

data and forecasts published by governmental

bodies and monetary authorities in the countries

where the Bank operates, supranational organiz-

ations such as the International Monetary Fund,

and selected private-sector and forecasters.

The Bank has identified and documented key drivers

of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of

financial instruments in accordance with each country

and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated

relationships between macro-economic variables and

credit risk and credit losses.

Allowance for ECLs will be made based on the following

three-stage approach which reflects the change in

credit quality of the financial instrument since initial

recognition:

(iii) Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired

 Financial assets are assessed as credit-impaired when

 one or more events that have detrimental impact on

 the estimated future cash flows of that asset have

 occurred. For financial assets that are credit-impaired,

 a lifetime ECL will be recognized.

12-month ECL –

not credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – not

credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL –

credit-impaired

0 to 29 days past

due (“DPD”)

30 to 89 DPD

More than 90 DPD

Restructured and

Rescheduled (“R&R”)

Forced default

Related default

1

2

3

(ii) Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired

 For exposures where there has been a significant

 increase in credit risk since initial recognition but

 that are not credit-impaired, a lifetime ECL will be

 recognized.

(i) Stage 1: 12-month ECL – not credit-impaired

 For exposures where there has not been a significant

 increase in credit risk since initial recognition and

 that are not credit-impaired upon origination, the

 ECL associated with the probability of default events

 occurring within next 12 months will be recognized.

Stage Credit risk status Default indicator
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The Bank applies a three-stage approach based on

the change in credit quality since initial recognition.

The definition of default used for these purposes

shall be applied consistently to all financial assets

unless information becomes available that demon-

strates that another default definition is more app-

ropriate for a particular financial instrument.

Based on the Bank’s definition of default, an acc-

ount classified as default will be automatically

tagged as “Yes” in the “Impairment Indicator" field

when the “Default-Reason” field shows one of the

four default reasons below:

(a) Normal Turn: The account’s delinquency

 exceeds 90 DPD and is applicable to all prod-

 ucts except trade finance product which has

 a definition of default of 31 DPD due to the

 short-term nature of the product. 

(b) R&R: When the account undergoes debt rest-

 ructuring or rescheduling;

(c) Forced: When account shows deterioration in

 its credit profile, but its delinquency does not

 exceed 90 DPD; and

(d) Related: Refers to cross default by obligor(s)

 of the same borrower type within the same

 loan listing source.

(iv) Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Bank incorporates forward-looking informa-

tion into both the assessment of whether the credit

risk of an instrument has increased significantly

since its initial recognition and the measurement

of ECL.

External information considered includes economic

data and forecasts published by governmental

bodies and monetary authorities in the countries

where the Bank operates, supranational organiz-

ations such as the International Monetary Fund,

and selected private-sector and forecasters.

The Bank has identified and documented key drivers

of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of

financial instruments in accordance with each country

and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated

relationships between macro-economic variables and

credit risk and credit losses.

Allowance for ECLs will be made based on the following

three-stage approach which reflects the change in

credit quality of the financial instrument since initial

recognition:

(iii) Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired

 Financial assets are assessed as credit-impaired when

 one or more events that have detrimental impact on

 the estimated future cash flows of that asset have

 occurred. For financial assets that are credit-impaired,

 a lifetime ECL will be recognized.

12-month ECL –

not credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL – not

credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL –

credit-impaired

0 to 29 days past

due (“DPD”)

30 to 89 DPD

More than 90 DPD

Restructured and

Rescheduled (“R&R”)

Forced default

Related default

1

2

3

(ii) Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired

 For exposures where there has been a significant

 increase in credit risk since initial recognition but

 that are not credit-impaired, a lifetime ECL will be

 recognized.

(i) Stage 1: 12-month ECL – not credit-impaired

 For exposures where there has not been a significant

 increase in credit risk since initial recognition and

 that are not credit-impaired upon origination, the

 ECL associated with the probability of default events

 occurring within next 12 months will be recognized.

Stage Credit risk status Default indicator
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29.3 Market risk

29.4 Liquidity risk

(g) Repossessed collateral

 During the year, the Bank did not repossess any

 collateral held as security.

The Bank takes on exposure to market risk, which is the

risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market

prices. Market risk arises from open positions in interest

rates, currency and equity products, all of which are

exposed to general and specific market movements

and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or

prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign

exchange rates and equity prices.

The Bank does not use derivative financial instruments

such as foreign exchange contract and interest rate swaps

to hedge its risk exposure.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

 Foreign exchange risk arises from future comm-

 ercial transactions and recognized assets and

 liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the

 Bank’s functional currency. The Bank maintains a

 policy of not exposing itself to large foreign exch-

 ange positions.  Any foreign currency exchange open

 positions are monitored against the operating req-

 uirements, pre-determined position limits and

 cut-loss limits.

 As at 31 December 2020, balances in monetary

 assets and liabilities denominated in currencies

 other than US$ are not significant. Therefore, no

 sensitivity analysis for foreign currency exchange

 risk was presented.

(ii) Price risk

 The Bank is not exposed to price risk of securities

 because it does not hold any investments

 classified in the statement of financial position as

 marketable securities.

(iii)  Interest rate risk
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows
 of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
 changes in market interest rates. Interest margins may
 increase as a result of changes and may reduce losses
 in the event that unexpected movements arise. The
 management of the Bank at this stage have a policy
 to set limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate
 re-pricing that may be undertaken; which regularly
 monitors the mismatch by the management and
 head o�ice.

The Bank has no significant financial assets and
liabilities with floating interest rates. Balances with
the NBC, balances with other banks, and loans and
advances earn fixed interest rates and deposits from
other banks and customers have fixed interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable
to meet its payment obligations associated with
its financial liabilities when they fall due and to
replace funds when they are withdrawn. The
consequence of this may be the failure to meet
obligations to repay depositors and fulfill com-
mitments to lend.

Management monitors the financial position
liquidity and manages the concentration and
profile of debt maturities through gap analysis.
Periodic reporting on the movement in loans,
customers’ deposits and borrowings are mon-
itored and liquidity requirements are adjusted
to ensure su�icient liquid assets to meet financial
commitment and obligation. Monitoring and
reporting take the form of the daily cash position
and projection for the next day, week and month,
semi-annual, respectively, as these are key periods
for liquidity management. To ensure liquid position,
the Bank has entered into credit facilities with its
parent to easily access to funds when in need
(refer to Note 30).

The table in Note 28 is an analysis of the assets
and liabilities of the Bank by relevant maturity
based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual or estimated
maturity dates.
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(refer to Note 30).

The table in Note 28 is an analysis of the assets
and liabilities of the Bank by relevant maturity
based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual or estimated
maturity dates.

7878



DGB Bank / ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Fair value represents the amount at which an asset

could be exchanged or a liability settled on an arms-

length basis. As verifiable market prices are not available,

market prices are not available for a significant prop-

ortion of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities. Fair

values, therefore, have been based on management

assumptions according to the profile of the asset and

liability base. In the opinion of the management, the

carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities

included in the statement of financial position are a

reasonable estimation of their fair values. In making

this assessment, the management assumes that loans

and advances are mainly held to maturity with fair

values equal to the book value of loans and advances

adjusted for allowance for loan losses, if any.

The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital mana-

gement are to ensure that it complies with externally

imposed capital requirements and it maintains

strong financial position and healthy capital ratios

to support its business and to maximize shareholder’s

value.

The Bank manages its capital structure and makes

adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic

conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,

the Bank established general reserves to manage any

overall financial risk. No changes were made in the

objectives, policies and processes from previous years

(refer to Note19).

Financial assets

Analysis of financial assets into maturity groupings

is based on the expected date on which these assets

will be realized. For other assets, the analysis into

maturity grouping is based on the remaining period

from the end of the reporting period to the contractual

maturity date or if earlier the expected date the assets

will be realized.

Financial liabilities 

The maturity grouping is based on the remaining

period from the end of the reporting period to the

contractual maturity date. When counterparty has

a choice of when the amount is paid, the liability is

allocated to the earliest period in which the Bank

can be required to pay.

29.5 Fair value of financial assets and
    liabilities

29.6 Capital management

30. LIQUIDITY RISK
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Fair value represents the amount at which an asset

could be exchanged or a liability settled on an arms-

length basis. As verifiable market prices are not available,

market prices are not available for a significant prop-

ortion of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities. Fair

values, therefore, have been based on management

assumptions according to the profile of the asset and

liability base. In the opinion of the management, the
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is based on the expected date on which these assets
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The maturity grouping is based on the remaining
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29.5 Fair value of financial assets and
    liabilities

29.6 Capital management

30. LIQUIDITY RISK
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On demand and up to

1 month

US$

>1-3

months

US$

>3-6

months

US$

Borrowings from its parent amounted to US$160 million will be matured in 6 to 12-month time. As part of the Bank’s fin-

ancial risk management, these borrowings will be renewed for another year from the maturity dates through the shareh-

older’s resolution dated 31 March 2021.

2020

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent 

Escrow account

Loans and advances

Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers

Borrowings

Total financial liabilities

Net liquidity surplus (gap) 

KHR’000 equivalent 

(Note 2.3)

9,270,980

-

2,381,398

-

11,652,378 

750,002

3,333,297

4,083,299

7,569,079

30,616,925

-

12,248,000

605,120

-

12,853,120 

-

4,038

4,038

12,849,082

 

51,974,537

-

-

942,108

-

942,108

-

3,752

3,752

938,356

3,795,650

8080
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On demand and up to

1 month

US$

>1-3

months

US$

>3-6

months

US$

Borrowings from its parent amounted to US$160 million will be matured in 6 to 12-month time. As part of the Bank’s fin-

ancial risk management, these borrowings will be renewed for another year from the maturity dates through the shareh-

older’s resolution dated 31 March 2021.

2020

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent 

Escrow account

Loans and advances

Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers

Borrowings

Total financial liabilities

Net liquidity surplus (gap) 

KHR’000 equivalent 

(Note 2.3)

9,270,980

-

2,381,398

-

11,652,378 

750,002

3,333,297

4,083,299

7,569,079

30,616,925

-

12,248,000

605,120

-

12,853,120 

-

4,038

4,038

12,849,082

 

51,974,537

-

-

942,108

-

942,108

-

3,752

3,752

938,356

3,795,650

8080
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>3-6

months

US$

>1 to 5 years

US$

Over 5 years

US$

No fixed

maturity date

US$

Total

US$

2020

-

-

3,014,593

-

3,014,593

-

160,014,695

160,014,695

(157,000,102)

(635,065,413)

-

-

183,051,059

-

183,051,059

-

12,963,124

12,963,124

170,087,935

688,005,697

-

-

53,661,414

-

53,661,414

-

-

-

53,661,414

217,060,420

-

-

-

 687,054

687,054

-

-

-

687,054

2,779,133

9,270,980

12,248,000

243,655,692

 687,054

265,861,726

750,002

176,318,906

177,068,908

88,792,818

359,166,949

8181
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>3-6

months

US$

>1 to 5 years

US$

Over 5 years

US$

No fixed

maturity date

US$

Total

US$

2020

-

-

3,014,593

-

3,014,593

-

160,014,695

160,014,695

(157,000,102)

(635,065,413)

-

-

183,051,059

-

183,051,059

-

12,963,124

12,963,124

170,087,935

688,005,697

-

-

53,661,414

-

53,661,414

-

-

-

53,661,414

217,060,420

-

-

-

 687,054

687,054

-

-

-

687,054

2,779,133

9,270,980

12,248,000

243,655,692

 687,054

265,861,726

750,002

176,318,906

177,068,908

88,792,818

359,166,949

8181
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On demand and up to
1 month

US$

>1-3
months

US$

>3-6
months

US$

2019

4,893,973

1,390,053

-

6,284,026

-

-

-

6,284,026

25,607,406

-

1,371,762

-

1,371,762

-

-

-

1,371,762

5,589,930

-

1,568,294

-

1,568,294

-

-

-

1,568,294

6,390,798

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent

Loans and advances

Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers

Borrowings

Total financial liabilities

Net liquidity surplus (gap) 

KHR’000 equivalent 

(Note 2.3)

8282
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On demand and up to
1 month

US$

>1-3
months

US$

>3-6
months

US$

2019

4,893,973

1,390,053

-

6,284,026

-

-

-

6,284,026

25,607,406

-

1,371,762

-

1,371,762

-

-

-

1,371,762

5,589,930

-

1,568,294

-

1,568,294

-

-

-

1,568,294

6,390,798

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent

Loans and advances

Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers

Borrowings

Total financial liabilities

Net liquidity surplus (gap) 

KHR’000 equivalent 

(Note 2.3)

8282
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>3-6
months

US$

>1 to 5 years

US$

Over 5 years

US$

No fixed
maturity date

US$

Total

US$

2019

-

3,545,093

-

3,545,093

-

-

-

3,545,093

14,446,254

-

183,867,869

-

183,867,869

-

95,157,313

95,157,313

88,710,556

361,495,516

-

-

458,016

458,016

-

-

-

458,016

1,866,415

4,893,973

191,743,071

458,016

197,095,060

-

95,157,313

95,157,313

101,937,747

415,396,319

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

8383
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>3-6
months

US$

>1 to 5 years

US$

Over 5 years

US$

No fixed
maturity date

US$

Total

US$
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3,545,093

-

3,545,093

-

-

-

3,545,093
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-

183,867,869

-

183,867,869

-

95,157,313

95,157,313

88,710,556

361,495,516

-

-

458,016

458,016

-

-

-

458,016

1,866,415

4,893,973

191,743,071

458,016

197,095,060

-

95,157,313

95,157,313

101,937,747

415,396,319

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
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31.  RECLASSIFICATION 

32.  EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PEROID

Corresponding figures in relation to carrying amount of golf membership have been reclassified from Intangible

assets to Other assets to conform with this year’s presentation, as follows:

With the coronavirus outbreak, many countries have required entities to limit or suspend business operations

and implemented travel restrictions and quarantine measures. These measures and policies have significantly

disrupted (or are expected to disrupt) the activities of many entities. The condition of the coronavirus outbreak

has continued to evolve throughout the time line crossing 31 December 2020. Amid outbreak, Cambodia is among

those a�ected countries that signifies economic slowdown due to global recession. On 9 March 2020, the NBC

advised all banks and financial institutions to delay or suspend all loan and interest payments as part of measures

to so¯en the economic blow of coronavirus on business and household borrowers.

Based on management’s assessment on forward-looking to 2021, the impact of the potential disease outbreak

could be minimal due to availability of loan protection measures in controlling credit risks of the portfolio.

Management will continuously pay attention to the formation of the COVID-19 in Cambodia, operations of its

loan customers, as well as their ability to service debts.

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, at the date of this report, there were no events

which occurred subsequent to 31 December 2020 that had significant impact on the Bank’s financial position as

at 31 December 2020 and its financial performance for the year then ended. 

As previously reported
US$

Reclassification
US$

As reclassified
US$

Intangible assets

Other assets

178,079

571,330

(150,182)

150,182

27,897

721,512

8484
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